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SECTION 1

Year in Review
VISION
Gippsland communities are minimising waste while maximising its value as a recoverable resource.

MISSION
We will engage and work collaboratively with government, industry, community and business to plan for waste
management, resource recovery, and associated infrastructure across Gippsland. We will provide strategic
leadership and coordination in developing integrated initiatives that deliver triple bottom line outcomes by:
•

reducing waste and increasing resource recovery, while building economic activity and minimising
environmental impact

•

implementing strategic decision-making regarding the management of waste and resource recovery

•

creating a collaborative approach by pooling Gippsland’s technical capability and benchmarking best
practice innovation

•

encouraging efficient and effective systems integration through collaborative procurement

•

minimising carbon footprint and improving environmental outcomes

•

facilitating and stimulating behavioural change in the community through education and engagement.

VALUES
The Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group (WRRG) will be responsive, providing frank, impartial,
and timely advice to the Government, high quality services to the Victorian community, and identify as well as
promote best practice.
Our organisation will demonstrate integrity through open and transparent processes, using powers responsibly,
reporting improper conduct, and avoiding real or apparent conflicts of interest to earn and sustain public trust.
Our processes will exhibit impartiality of decision-making and providing advice on merit and without bias,
caprice, favouritism, or self-interest. We will act fairly through objectivity considering the facts and fair criteria
as well as implementing Government policies and programs equitably.
The Gippsland WRRG has established employment processes that ensure that employment decisions are based
on merit, our employees are treated fairly and reasonably, and equal employment opportunity is provided.
Human rights as set out in the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 are upheld.
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CHAIR’S REPORT
We made a solid start to the year following the gazettal of our Implementation Plan in June 2017. This marked
a significant milestone with the culmination of almost three years of consultation and analysis to develop a
regional plan to better manage waste and resource recovery over the next 10 years in Gippsland.
Using our strong relationships, we proactively engaged with our key environmental agencies, including a
joint meeting of our Board and Sustainability Victoria’s Board and executives. A planning session was held
with executives from Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning, Sustainability Victoria and the
Metropolitan WRRG to understand how we can leverage from one another to support the delivery of our
respective strategic plans and policy goals.
This year, the Victorian Government consulted on the introduction of three waste and resource recovery
related policies: waste to energy, e-waste landfill ban and single use plastics. The Gippsland Local Government
Waste Forum provided significant input into the development of the waste to energy and e-waste landfill
ban consultations recognising that these two policies will have a major impact on the sector and the way we
manage discarded materials. We encouraged our councils and community to provide their own, individual
responses to the banning of single use plastics as this has a bigger impact on the broader community as
consumers. The Gippsland WRRG supported the ban through strong social media activity and acknowledgment
of towns that have shown leadership in providing alternatives to plastic bags ahead of the official ban.
We saw a disruption in global recycling markets that impacted councils and contractors, making waste and
resource recovery front of mind for many. The Gippsland WRRG provided leadership to councils and contractors,
keeping them updated with information as it came to hand and conveying the challenges faced in the region
through to government officials. We acknowledge the difficult circumstances councils and small contractors
endured over several months and we congratulate our Gippsland councils for their continued efforts to maintain
recycling collections and services to their respective communities. With approximately 70% of waste collected
being diverted from landfill, Gippsland has a proud history of being good at recycling and we have encouraged
people to continue to recycle right, reinforcing messaging in the broader recycling campaign.
The Gippsland WRRG is pleased with the work achieved over the past four years, made possible through
funding of key initiatives. In the coming financial years, funding of the Gippsland WRRG significantly diminishes.
We are disappointed that we will be unable to deliver more projects that support our vision of maximising
resources and minimising waste across Gippsland. As a result, the Board supported a restructure of the
organisation to align with the funding we will receive. This resulted in the departure of two long-serving
team members in 2017-18. I’d like to acknowledge their time with the organisation and thank them for their
contribution.
Looking to the future, under the direction of the Board, the Gippsland WRRG will continue to strive to deliver
high quality outcomes within the limitations of our funding, focusing on improved governance, collaborative
procurement and strong relationships.

Richard A. Ellis - Chair
Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
7 September 2018
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EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
This year has been an eventful one for both our organisation and the waste and recycling sector. Confronted with
the final year of funding for the Implementation Plan, we were able to complete several priority actions identified
in the plan. For example, we undertook a thorough assessment of transfer station infrastructure across the region
to provide local government with an understanding of where improvements need to occur to create an integrated,
harmonised service for communities and industry. This work also assisted Sustainability Victoria to identify priority
sites in Gippsland to receive funding for upgrades to be compliant for the impending e-waste to landfill ban which
comes into effect on 1 July 2019.
Utilising our strong relationships, we led the development of the Gippsland Collaborative Resource Recovery
Business Case. Funded by Local Government Victoria, we provided councils with the evidence to consider
collaborative procurement of municipal kerbside services. This work was informed by extensive data analysis
and consultation with local and state government agencies, other WRRGs and industry. We also completed a
comprehensive transport efficiency assessment as a key input into this report. This assessment and the business
case demonstrated to councils that there is value, financial savings and environmental benefits for all six councils
to undertake collaborative procurement of their kerbside services. It also demonstrated that transporting material
is not a barrier to collaborative procurement.
We welcomed the extension to our contract with Sustainability Victoria to deliver the Victorian Government’s
ResourceSmart Schools initiative to July 2019. Our facilitators continued to provide valuable assistance and
high-quality support to schools across Gippsland who we have recruited to combat the war on waste. The team
was inspired by the enthusiasm of students and teachers who participated in over 180 audits, teacher visits,
professional development and student workshops.
The global disruption to the recycling sector – introduction of the China National Sword Policy - sent a shockwave
through both local government and the waste and recycling industry. Our close relationships with Gippsland
councils and local contractors, we were able to respond quickly. Our knowledge of the sector and the region
provided valuable input back into government about what was happening on the ground, and the real impact it
was having across our region. The shared services strategic communications across the WRRG network enabled us
to assist with tailoring key messages for our communities and provide assurance that our councils and contractors
were committed to continuing to recycle. The Gippsland WRRG provided leadership across the region, keeping
local government and contractors informed of developments and provided targeted communications messages.
We launched our own “Right Cycle - recycle right” campaign through social and print media to encourage
householders and businesses to continue to do the right thing when it comes to recycling.
Our downward funding trajectory required us to pro-actively reshape our organisation and review what we can
realistically deliver in next year’s business plan. With the ABC television’s “War on Waste” and Four Corners
programs putting the sector in the spotlight, there has never been a better time to engage with our communities
and embark upon exciting and innovative projects in the region. We hope to be able to capitalise on funding
opportunities through the Recycling Industry Strategic Plan and e-waste programs to support Gippsland to march
closer to winning the war on waste.
I’d like to thank the Board for its continued commitment and support of our organisation.

Matthew Peake - Executive Officer
Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
7 September 2018
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RESPONSIBLE BODY DECLARATION
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Gippsland Waste and
Resource and Recovery Group’s Annual Report for the year ending 30 June 2018.
Richard A. Ellis - Chair
Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
7 September 2018

KEY INITIATIVES AND ACHIEVEMENTS
Priority Infrastructure Planning
The Gippsland WRRG utilised funding provided for the Implementation Plan and commissioned an assessment
of 42 transfer stations/resource recovery centres in Gippsland. The assessment was to determine infrastructure
upgrade needs and sites’ compliance with a variety of regulations including the capacity to store/collect e-waste
in preparation for the impending Victorian Government e-waste to landfill ban (from 1 July 2019). Sharing this
information with Sustainability Victoria, 25 sites were identified across Gippsland as priority e-waste receival
points that will require upgrades to be compliant under the e-waste landfill ban policy and Environment
Protection Act 1970.
The Gippsland WRRG also commissioned a detailed assessment of land use planning opportunities and
constraints for each priority site in Gippsland, supported by supplementary funding through the Local Buffer
Support Program. This enabled an assessment of 52 sites across the region and consultation with council landuse planning teams. The project included a full day facilitated professional development session with Gippsland
planners and the translation of spatial geographic information system (GIS) format to integrate into council
systems.
The Gippsland WRRG utilised a previously commissioned transport assessment model to undertake a transport
efficiency assessment which considered a range of transport scenarios based on different material types. This
information was used to inform the Gippsland Collaborative Councils Resource Recovery Business Case and will
assist in future assessments of procurement options.

Collaborative Procurement
The Gippsland WRRG project managed the development of the Gippsland Collaborative Councils Resource
Recovery Business Case. Latrobe City (on behalf of the six Gippsland councils) auspiced the $75,000 grant secured
from Local Government Victoria’s Collaborative Council – Sustainability Fund Partnerships Round 3.
The business case was completed in May 2018 and is the culmination of several years’ work by the Gippsland
WRRG, councils and Victorian government. The business case investigated the potential for collaborative
procurement of kerbside municipal solid waste services across Gippsland’s six councils. Gippsland’s councils
service almost 130,000 households, collecting around 100,000 tonnes of waste and recyclables at kerbside. This
is currently achieved with a fleet of 68 trucks servicing an area of 41,000 square kilometres (18% of Victoria).
The business case demonstrated that based on experience both domestically and internationally, joint
procurement of these services can generate greater economies of scale, reduce overall costs, drive network
efficiencies, improve customer service, encourage new infrastructure, regional investment and growth, generate
jobs, divert waste from landfill and improve environmental outcomes from recovered resources.

Annual Report 2017/18
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Section 1

ResourceSmart Schools
ResourceSmart Schools is an award-winning Victorian
government initiative and was the Gippsland WRRG’s primary
education and behaviour change engagement throughout 201718. Our delivery model was enhanced to provide greater regional
coverage and more flexibility to engage with schools to meet the
targets set by Sustainability Victoria.
This year has been a success with more than 70 schools
engaged in fun and innovative ways of planning, designing and
participating in activities to reduce their waste, increase their
biodiversity and save on water and energy usage.
Our ResourceSmart Schools team delivered 30 audits in waste
generation, biodiversity, water or energy use, 98 teacher visits
and 55 professional development/student workshops.
A list of schools which participated in ResourceSmart Schools in
2017-18 is provided in Appendix B.

GIPPSLAND SCHOOLS
- SAVINGS Energy
2017-18 savings
162 tonnes greenhouse gas
Saving - $33,244

Water
2017-18 savings

Yinnar South Primary School Receives 3 Stars
Continuing their journey towards being a 5-star
ResourceSmart School, Yinnar South completed their
biodiversity module which included the development of a
frog bog and butterfly garden and the continuation of the
productive vegetable garden at the school.
The school has already saved $62 per student as a result of
participating in ResourceSmart Schools. This has been done
through fixing water leaks, implementing a range of energy
saving strategies and reducing waste. The school is one of
the few schools in Gippsland collecting their soft plastics
which has significantly reduced the amount of waste going to
landfill.
As the school progresses towards 5 stars, they will act as a
leader for the ResourceSmart School initiative. The school has
consistently embedded sustainability into their curriculum
and this depth of learning supports their actions on-ground.
The school shows leadership through their broad reach
participating in events such as National Tree Planting Day.

1,141 kl
Saving - $3,504

Waste
2017-18 savings
161 m3
Saving - $5,689

Biodiversity
2017-18
3,739 trees planted

TOTAL
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$42,438

Year in Review

MANNER OF ESTABLISHMENT AND THE RELEVANT MINISTER
Establishment Statement
The Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group is a Statutory Authority established under section 49C of
the Environment Protection Act 1970 (the EP Act) that:
a) is a body corporate with perpetual succession
e) may take land on lease and grant subleases of
leased land
b) has a common seal
f) subject to this Act, may do and suffer all acts
c) may sue and be sued in its corporate name
and things that a body corporate may by law do
d) is capable of acquiring, holding and disposing of
and suffer.
personal property
The responsible minister for the period was the Hon Lily D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy, Environment and
Climate Change.

Ministerial Statement of Expectations
On 19 March 2017, the Hon Lily D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change issued
the Gippsland WRRG a Statement of Expectations to assist in concentrating the efforts of the organisation. The
Gippsland WRRG addressed the Statement of Expectations through the following priority areas in the 2017-20
business plan:
1.

Planning and Implementation

2.

Collaborative Procurement

3.

Engagement and Education

4.

Good Governance

5.

Market Development.

LEGISLATIVE OBJECTIVES FUNCTIONS AND POWERS
As outlined in the section 49G of the EP Act the objectives of a WRRG are to:
•

undertake waste and resource recovery infrastructure planning to meet the future needs of its waste and
resource recovery region while minimising the environmental and public health impacts of waste and
resource recovery infrastructure

•

facilitate efficient procurement of waste and resource recovery infrastructure and services for its waste and
resource recovery region through the collective procurement of waste management facilities and waste
and resource recovery services in the region

•

integrate regional and local knowledge into State-wide waste and resource recovery market development
strategies

•

educate businesses and communities within its waste and resource recovery region to reduce waste going
to landfill by using waste and resource recovery infrastructure and services efficiently

•

ensure Regional Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation Plans and programs are informed by local
government, business and community and inform State-wide waste and resource recovery planning and
programs.

In seeking to achieve its objectives, a WRRG must collaborate with councils, Sustainability Victoria, the
Environment Protection Authority, industry, business and the community.

Annual Report 2017/18
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Section 1

FUNCTIONS OF WASTE AND RESOURCE RECOVERY GROUPS
As outlined in section 49H of the EP Act the functions of a WRRG are to:
a) plan for the future needs of waste and resource
recovery infrastructure within its waste and
resource recovery region consistently with
the State-Wide Waste and Resource Recovery
Infrastructure Plan
b) facilitate the provision of waste and resource
recovery infrastructure and services by councils
within its waste and resource recovery region
c) facilitate the development of contracts for
the joint procurement of waste management
facilities and waste and resource recovery
services within its waste and resource recovery
region
d) manage contracts in the performance of its
objectives and functions

e) work with Sustainability Victoria, councils,
and businesses within its waste and resource
recovery region on best practices for waste and
resource recovery systems, facilities and services
f) advise, with Sustainability Victoria, councils
and businesses within its waste and resource
recovery region on best practices for waste and
resource recovery systems, facilities and services
g) support its waste and resource recovery region’s
Local Government Waste Forum to enable the
Waste Forum to perform its functions
h) undertake waste and resource recovery projects
as funded by government, councils and other
organisations.

POWERS OF WASTE AND RESOURCE RECOVERY GROUPS
In accordance with section 49I of the EP Act, the Gippsland WRRG has the power to do all things necessary or
convenient to enable it to carry out its functions and achieve its objectives.
Section 49I (2) of the EP Act, states that a WRRG cannot:
a) own or operate a waste management facility
b) apply for or hold a planning permit
c) enter into contracts for the procurement of waste management facilities or waste and resource recovery
services unless the contract is jointly entered into with a procurer under that contract.

Left
In time for International Compost Awareness
Week, the Gippsland WRRG and the
Gippsland Local Learning and Employment
Network join forces to install a Green Cone in
the garden of the Trafalgar office to help with
the composting of kitchen scraps.
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Year in Review

NATURE AND RANGE OF SERVICES PROVIDED
The Gippsland WRRG is one of seven WRRGs established in Victoria on 1 August 2014.
The Gippsland WRRG develops and implements regional strategies, initiatives, and projects in the context
of State policy, through the State’s Regional Waste and Resource Recovery Framework under the Act. The
Gippsland Implementation Plan, gazetted in June 2017.
Aligned with the Statewide Waste and Resource Recovery Infrastructure Plan, the Gippsland Implementation
Plan aims to meet the region’s waste and resource recovery needs for the next 10 years and beyond. The
Gippsland WRRG works in partnership and collaboratively with community, local government, business and
industry stakeholders as well as state government agencies to bring about demonstrative improvement in the
management of discarded materials.

The Gippsland Region

East Gippsland

Wellington
Baw Baw
Latrobe

Bass Coast

South
Gippsland

In addition, the Gippsland WRRG looks for opportunities to improve efficiencies of how materials commonly
discarded are managed and encourages recycling or re-purposing where possible. One specific aspect of
the Gippsland WRRG’s role is to enable the procurement of waste and resource recovery infrastructure and
services jointly with municipalities in the Gippsland region. This is of particular value in regional Victoria where
the quantities of certain waste or recovered materials generated by one municipality can be quite modest.
The Gippsland WRRG values the close relationship with its local government entities. In fulfilling the
requirements of the Act, the Gippsland WRRG provides secretariat support to the Gippsland Local
Government Waste Forum and its supporting advisory committees:
•

Technical Reference Group

•

Education and Engagement Reference Group.

Annual Report 2017/18

9

Section 1

NATURE AND RANGE OF SERVICES PROVIDED (cont)
Collaboration is a highly-valued outcome of this structure and has, on many occasions, improved the way we do
business in Gippsland. Additionally, our strong relationships have benefited initiatives such as ResourceSmart
Schools, led in Gippsland by the Gippsland WRRG across the six municipalities for over five years.
More than 85 Gippsland schools have participated in ResourceSmart Schools over that time with local councils
enabling a valuable outreach capacity to our dispersed communities.

PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVES
The 2017–18 achievements against objectives are outlined in the following section which have been developed
based on the Minister’s Statement of Expectations, the Implementation Plan and the various initiatives that
support its delivery.
Listed are the business plan objectives, strategies and deliverables to be undertaken by the Gippsland WRRG
and the progress towards achieving each strategy.
The objectives and strategies align with the six objectives of the Implementation Plan, which are:
1. Achieving greater material recovery through development of appropriate, well-sited infrastructure
2. Driving innovative services and infrastructure provision
3. Building greater responsibility and accountability
4. Facilitating continuous improvement and enhanced performance
5. Planning to reduce undesirable impacts (on public health, the environment or delivery of waste and
resource recovery services)
6. Improving the value of available information to support industry development.

Key to symbols used in tables 1 - 5 (pg 11-15)
Performance target achieved or expected to be achieved.
Target not achieved due to resourcing/funding, changes to
government policy/introduction of government policy.
Activity to occur in future financial year(s) if adequately
funded/resourced.
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Year in Review

Priority Area - PLANNING
TABLE 1 - Business Planning Objective 1
OBJECTIVE 1

Commence implementation of the priority actions contained within the Gippsland Waste
and Resource Recovery Implementation Plan to meet the future needs of the Gippsland
region while minimising the environmental and public health impacts of waste and resource
recovery infrastructure.

STRATEGIES
(key initiatives)
Work with local
government and
industry to determine
priority infrastructure
for Gippsland.

TARGET
Complete
by
November
2017

BUSINESS PLAN
DELIVERABLES
•
•
•
•

•

ACHIEVEMENTS

Infrastructure Priority
Plan
Transport efficiency
assessment
Gippsland waste and
resource recovery
assessment map
Support local
government align
development and
strategies with the
Implementation Plan.

Four critical strategic planning projects completed:
•
Assessment of Gippsland’s transfer stations/resource
recovery centres
•
Detailed assessment of land use planning opportunities
and constraints for each priority site in Gippsland and
spatial GIS information gathered for application in
Council systems
•
Assessment of 52 sites across the region and consultation
with council planning teams
•
Transport efficiency assessment.

Workshop facilitated
between local
government, Emergency
Management Victoria
and waste service
providers to develop
contingency plan for
Gippsland.

The Gippsland WRRG developed a draft contingency plan
in October 2017 and participates in a state-wide working
group. The draft plan was put on hold while the organisation
responded to the recycling industry crisis.

Agreed consistent
approach to assessing
the risk of closed landfills
in Gippsland
Gippsland Closed
Landfills Priority Plan.

Not completed due the limited resources available to the
Gippsland WRRG and competing priorities.

Facilitate the
identification of key
risks to waste and
resource recovery
infrastructure, and
appropriate mitigation
responses and
contingency plans.

Complete
annually

Facilitate the risk
assessment of the
region’s closed landfills
using consistent and
agreed methodology
to support Gippsland
councils and
Envionmental Protection
Authority (EPA) Victoria
to prioritise management
at a regional scale.

Commence
by June
2018

Develop understanding
of the material
composition of waste
generated by the C&I
and C&D sectors.

Commence
June 2018

•

Identification of waste
generators with either
material similarity or
geographic proximity
to explore resource
recovery initiatives.

Due to resourcing, this strategy has been deferred to
December 2019.

In partnership with
Gippsland councils, waste
industry and Sustainability
Victoria (SV) implement
agreed waste and
resource recovery data
sets, and collection and
reporting methodology,
consistent with the state’s
Waste Data Governance
Framework, to develop
routine data reporting
protocols.

Complete
April 2018

•

Gippsland Data
Excellence Group
established
Data Collection and
reporting system
development plan.

The Technical Reference Group acts as the Gippsland Data
Excellence Group. Work is underway to establish an agreed
collection and reporting methodology consistent with the state’s
waste data governance framework.

•

•

•

The Gippsland WRRG continues to work with other WRRGs,
local and state government agencies to develop a consistent
approach to contingency planning across the state. Gippsland
WRRG aims to complete this activity through the
Gippsland Local Government Waste Forum in 2018-19.

EPA released it publication 1671 Local Council SelfAssessment Tool for Closed Landfill Environmental Risk
in February 2018 for councils to undertake their ownassessment of closed landfill sites under their control.

The Gippsland WRRG is a representative on the state-wide
waste data working group chaired by SV. The Gippsland WRRG
is working with SV to review the Data Collection and Reporting
Guideline for Waste Management Facilities in Victoria to
standardise data collection and reporting.

Annual Report 2017/18
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Priority Area - COLLABORATIVE PROCUREMENT
TABLE 2 - Business Planning Objective 2
OBJECTIVE 2

Identify opportunities for the facilitation of joint procurement of infrastructure and
services in partnership with local governments and prepare a Gippsland Collaborative
Procurement Plan that identifies key areas where benefit can be provided.

STRATEGIES
(key initiatives)

TARGET

Lead the second stage
of the Gippsland
Collaborative Waste
Investment Initiative
in partnership with
Gippsland councils,
the Metropolitan
WRRG and other
identified partners.

Tender
issued by
June 2018

Identify and
implement
collaborative
procurement
initiatives to benefit
Gippsland councils
in providing best
value services to
their respective
communities.

Complete
by February
2018

Facilitate partnerships
between state and
local government and
the waste industry to
support the upgrades
of waste and resource
infrastructure, or
asset renewal,
including
consolidation or
relocation where
appropriate.

Ongoing

12

BUSINESS PLAN
DELIVERABLES
•

•
•

•

ACHIEVEMENTS

Collaboration with the
Metro WRRG through
shared services model to
support development of
the business case
Re-established
agreement with
Gippsland Councils
Request for Tender
issued.

The Gippsland WRRG project managed the development
of the Gippsland Collaborative Councils Resource Recovery
Business Case, funded by Local Governments Victoria’s
Collaborative Council – Sustainability Fund Partnerships
Round 3 funding.

Gippsland Collaborative
Procurement Plan
developed and approved
by participating councils.

The Gippsland WRRG collaborated with the Gippsland
Regional Procurement Excellence Network (RPEN) to identify
the common waste and resource recovery services across
each council.

Further work is underway with local government to progress
this initiative in 2018-19. Will look to leverage the
shared services arrangement with the Metro WRRG.

It was agreed to consolidate this initiative into the Gippsland
Collaborative Resource Recovery Business Case.

•

Collaborative
procurement
opportunities identified
and facilitated.

Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group

The recycling industry crisis provided an opportunity for
the Gippsland WRRG to take a lead across the region and
facilitate discussions between local and state government
agencies and industry to respond to the issues impacting
local government and local collection/processing
contractors.
The Gippsland WRRG has actively supported the Gippsland
waste industry in responding to issues in the sector and
accessing funding opportunities.

Year in Review

Priority Area - EDUCATION AND ENGAGEMENT
TABLE 3 - Business Planning Objective 3
OBJECTIVE 3

Engage with industry, business and community to enhance the waste and resource recovery
network through collaborative relationships and sharing best practice and innovation to
improve performance and efficiency.

STRATEGIES
(key initiatives)

TARGET

BUSINESS PLAN
DELIVERABLES

Support the Gippsland
Local Government
Waste Forum and
associated Reference
Groups to achieve
a high level of
involvement in
strategic planning for
waste and resource
recovery.

Ongoing

•

Maintain and expand
where appropriate
Gippsland WRRG
organisation
branding including
a comprehensive
website and
resources for
communicating with
stakeholders, as part
of an organisational
communications plan.

Ongoing

Facilitate the delivery
of ResourceSmart
Schools (RSS)
education program to
participating Gippsland
schools.

Until July
2019

Support the
implementation of
the Victorian Waste
Education Strategy in
the Gippsland region,
focusing on locally
important issues.

Ongoing

Work with land
managers, local
government and other
affected stakeholders
to undertake a
situation assessment
of the litter and illegal
dumping across the
region.

Complete
June 2018

•

ACHIEVEMENTS

Improved
communication,
accountability and
reporting through
greater engagement
with the Gippsland
WRRG Board. More
frequent joint meetings
and undertaking
projects in partnership.

The Gippsland Local Government Waste Forum submitted
responses to two Victorian Government policy consultations –
e-waste to landfill ban and waste to energy.

Education and
engagement strategy,
website refresh, more
visible corporate
branding, increased
outward relationship
development and
promotion.

The Gippsland WRRG contracted a Communications Coordinator
in late 2017 for six months to increase the organisation’s profile.
This resulted in improved messaging through the website and
social media platforms which has expanded Gippsland WRRG’s
relationships and networks.

The Gippsland WRRG introduced improved communication
between the Forum, associated reference groups and the Board
through reports and matters referred to and from the Board.

The Gippsland WRRG provided leadership through the recycling
crisis by assisting local government and industry with key
messages reinforced through a strong “Right Cycle - recycle
right” social media campaign providing tips to encourage
households to continue to recycle appropriately.
A new website is scheduled for completion during the
first half of 2018-19.

Within the timeframe
of this plan over 88
Gippsland schools are
actively participating in
the program
Measurable reduction
in resource usage and
increase in biodiversity
by participating
Gippsland schools.

RSS is the Gippsland WRRG’s primary education initiative. As at
30 June 2018, 71 schools are receiving support in developing
sustainability curriculum and projects through RSS Facilitators
in Gippsland. Refer to section 1 (page 6) – RSS for total savings
by Gippsland schools in 2017-18.

•

Development of
regional education
initiatives in
collaboration with local
government, industry
and community groups.

The Gippsland WRRG supported implementation of the
Victorian Waste Education Strategy through the facilitation of
RSS and commenced work to understand the litter and illegal
dumping issues in Gippsland. The Gippsland WRRG supported
SV’s consultation for the e-waste education campaign including
completion and promotion of the consultation survey.

•

Litter situation analysis
(benchmarking)
completed followed by
a multi-party regional
litter action plan.

The Gippsland WRRG facilitated a workshop with land
managers to understand the litter and illegal dumping issues
across Gippsland. The workshop was informed by a survey
of land owners and highlighted inconsistencies across the
region and organisations in gathering and measuring data. The
Victorian Litter Action Alliance demonstrated the DumpIn Data
App and provided attendees with login details. Four Gippsland
councils are now active users of the app.

•

•

The 2018-19 Victorian Budget Papers, Budget Paper 3
target for RSS has been revised from 868 in 2017-18 to 700
participating schools. This will see Gippsland’s target
revised to 70 participating schools in 2018-19.

Completion of this initiative has been deferred due to
reduced organisational capacity.
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Priority Area - GOVERNANCE
TABLE 4 - Business Planning Objective 4
OBJECTIVE 4

Maintain high quality planning and governance in executing our statutory role and be
financially sustainable. Implement a continuous improvement plan to evaluate and
monitor internal and external programs and projects and develop sound knowledge
management systems and processes.

STRATEGIES
(key initiatives)

TARGET

BUSINESS PLAN
DELIVERABLES

Develop a comprehensive
annual business Plan and
Annual Budget and ensure
there is preparation of
accurate Financial Statements
and develop a comprehensive
Annual Report each year.

Annually

•

Conduct an annual review of
the Governance framework
including Board, Forum and
Committee performance and
review Charter of Corporate
Governance and Policy
Handbook.

Annually

Maintain an effective Audit
and Risk Committee and
develop appropriate internal
audit program.

Routinely

Maintain an appropriate risk
management framework
including organisational risk
assessment, corporate risk
appetite and associated risk
register.

Routinely

Prepare the Gippsland WRRG
TAKE2 climate change pledge.

Develop an organisational
continuous improvement action
plan and investigate technology
to improve the ability to
hold meetings/conferences
remotely.

14

ACHIEVEMENTS

Annual Business
Plan
Annual Report.

The Gippsland WRRG developed a comprehensive Business
Plan, Budget and Annual Report in accordance with its
legislative requirements.

Board
Performance
Review
Revised Charter
of Corporate
Governance
Policy Handbook.

The Gippsland WRRG through its Audit Risk and Finance
Committee reviewed its governance framework and the
Board endorsed a revised Charter of Corporate Governance
and 14 policies.

Annual Audit and
Risk Plan
Internal Audit
Project Report.

The Audit and Risk Committee continued to operate
effectively and expanded its function to include finance.
In recognition of its limited funding, the Board sought an
exemption from direction 3.2.2 – Internal Audit Function, of
the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance due to the
size of the organisation and available resources. The Board
has requested that the Metro WRRG led shared services
function consider provision of this service in the future.

•

Risk Register and
Reporting.

The Gippsland WRRG maintains a risk management
framework and continues to review the organisational and
corporate risk appetite, updating the risk register as required.

By June
2018

•

Take 2 Pledge.

Signed up to the TAKE2 climate change pledge, committing to
work collaboratively with government, industry, community
and business to better plan for waste management and
resource recovery initiatives to minimise carbon
footprint and improve environmental outcomes.

July 2017

•

Improved Board
reports
Continuous
Improvement Plan
Knowledge
Management
Framework.

The Gippsland WRRG proactively reviewed the organisational
structure to maximise outputs within limited and restricted
resources. The Gippsland WRRG also conducted a review
of the available technology and purchased conferencing
hardware which is due for delivery in 2018-19.

•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group

The Gippsland WRRG also improved the quality of the reports
provided to the Board and associated committees.

Year in Review

Priority Area - MARKET DEVELOPMENT & INNOVATION
TABLE 5 - Business Planning Objective 5
OBJECTIVE 5

To provide regional knowledge and perspective to the state-wide waste and resource
recovery market development strategies.

STRATEGIES
(key initiatives)
In partnership with local
government research, trial and
pilot innovative infrastructure
and services to effectively
implement the e-waste landfill
ban.

TARGET
By April
2018

BUSINESS PLAN
DELIVERABLES
•

Trial and pilot
of innovative
services aimed to
provide convenient
collection of
e-waste from
households and
businesses.

ACHIEVEMENTS
The Gippsland WRRG deferred this activity while it supported
local government to respond to the e-waste landfill ban
policy development. However, the organisation informed and
facilitated a response to the e-waste policy consultation from
the Forum.

(Subject to funding)
Investigate innovative and
viable recycling initiatives to
improve the convenience,
scope and consistency of
recycling in our more remote
communities, in partnership
with other stakeholders.

Commence
July 2018

•

Work with local
government to
identify challenges
and opportunities
in remote
communities.

The Gippsland WRRG was not resourced to undertake this
initiative in detail. Assessment of the small transfer stations
servicing remote communities has informed Gippsland
WRRG of issues relating to convenience and breadth of
service.

Prepare a biennial Gippsland
‘State of Waste Report’ to
drive improvement in waste
and resource recovery system.

Biennially

•

State of Waste
Report.

The Gippsland WRRG commissioned a detailed data report
on the ‘state of waste’ in Gippsland. Release of the public
facing material was put on hold as a result of the
recycling crisis.

Assess and benchmark key
reprocessing and resource
recovery technology options
suitable in the Gippsland
context, invite private sector
responses and develop
business plans to implement
high priority initiatives.

Ongoing

•

Work with
local and state
government
and industry to
introduce improved
technology in the
region.

SV developed a Resource Recovery Technology Guide that
the Gippsland WRRG used to guide the development of the
collaborative council’s business case. Gippsland WRRG was
a member of the state-wide working group led by DELWP to
develop Victorian Government’s waste to energy policy.
The Gippsland WRRG also reviewed and responded to two
EPA Victoria Works Approval applications including:
•
Australian Paper’s ‘Energy from Waste Plant’ proposal
•
Energy Brix Australia Corp’s asbestos landfill site
at Morwell.

Utilise findings from Victorian
Market Development
Framework and Investment Plan
to inform further investigation
and action priorities for
Gippsland.

Ongoing

•

Identify
opportunities
and potential
funding sources in
partnership with SV
and Latrobe Valley
Authority.

The Gippsland WRRG supported local government and
industry to apply for funding through the Resource Recovery
Infrastructure Fund, Climate Change Innovation Fund and the
Latrobe Valley Community Facility Fund. Projects included
a high-tech composting facility, managing agricultural
plastics and promotion of sustainable jobs of the
future.

Participate in and support
the state-wide research
on innovation in resource
recovery and apply suitable
approaches that can leverage
existing infrastructure and/or
underutilised workforce.

Ongoing

•

Work with local,
state and federal
government and
not for profit
organisations
to identify
opportunities and
potential funding
sources.

In addition to the above, the Gippsland WRRG also undertook
a comprehensive business case for Wellington Shire Council to
evaluate the introduction of a kerbside collection for food and
garden organics.
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TABLE 5 - Business Planning Objective 5 (cont)
STRATEGIES

BUSINESS PLAN

TARGET 5 (cont)
(key initiatives)
DELIVERABLES
TABLE
5 - Business Planning Objective
Investigate and prioritise
activity clusters with common
waste and resource recovery
challenges. Develop priority
waste streams based on
regional need/opportunity.

Commence
July 2018

•

At least two
clusters working
together on
joint recovery
outcomes.

ACHIEVEMENTS
The Gippsland WRRG was not resourced to undertake
this initiative. However, if appropriately funded and
resourced, clusters, whether by location, industry
or material type, are an opportunity to support
communities to develop capacity and better manage
the waste they generate.

PERFORMANCE REPORTING - FINANCIAL (Budget Outcomes)
Overview
The Gippsland WRRG has concluded its operations in a
sound financial position this financial year. A planned
deficit of $131,022 was forecast to advance priority actions
within the Gippsland Implementation Plan, gazetted on
29 June 2017. The Gippsland WRRG concluded the year
with a deficit of $86,108. A summary of the financial result
for the year is presented in Table 8. The Gippsland WRRG
commenced operation from 1 August 2014, hence there
are only three previous financial reporting periods for
comparison.

Financial Performance and Business Review
The revenue for 2017-18 included $225,000 for the last
year of Implementation Plan funding. Revenue during
the year was slightly lower than forecast due to the
collaborative councils business case being delivered under
budget. Further work to extend the project will ensure the
balance of grant funds will be claimed in 2018-19.
The Gippsland WRRG has completed a significant amount
of project work to undertake the initiatives detailed within
the Gippsland Implementation Plan as indicated in Table 6.
In October 2017 the Gippsland WRRG was the subject
of fraud and experienced a financial loss. Through a
combination of bank actions and insurance, aside from the
insurance excess of $250.00, all funds have been recovered.
In response to the incident, the Gippsland WRRG’s financial
controls have been reviewed and enhanced.

TABLE 6 - Summary of Projects
$

PROJECT/ACTIVITY
Collaborative Waste Investment Initiative
Collaborative Councils Resource
Recovery Business Case

88,729

Transport Efficiency Assessment

43,441

Optimising Waste Services in
Gippsland Procurement Workshop
TOTAL

5,866
138,036

Waste and Resource Recovery Infrastructure
Assessment and Data Analysis
Land-use Planning Project

77,988

Transfer Station Assessment

63,065

Infrastructure Priority Plan
TOTAL

9,336
150,389

The Gippsland WRRG Board reviewed management’s strategy to bring the organisation’s future expenditure in
line with forecast funding decreases and endorsed a workforce reduction plan. The proactive organisational realignment commenced in March 2018 and will be implemented in the first quarter of the new financial year. This
restructure has resulted in two redundancies. Funded initiatives such as the Sustainability Victoria, ResourceSmart
Schools program at the end of 2017-18 was on track as planned in the project budget.
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Financial Position – Balance Sheet
The summary of the balance sheet below generated for the 2017–18 reporting period.
TABLE 7 - 2017-18 Balance Sheet Summary
ASSETS
Current Assets

$
629,645

Fixed Assets

45,043

TOTAL ASSETS

674,688

TOTAL LIABILITIES

204,225

TOTAL EQUITY

470,463

TABLE 8 - 4-year Financial Summary
2017-18
$

2016-17
$

2015-16
$

2014-15*
$

Core Business Revenue

673,994

661,397

560,672

414,730

Government Contributions

459,035

402,500

581,028

357,971

7,010

8,312

9,174

4,574

1,140,039

1,072,209

1,150,874

777,275

Administration

896,126

743,030

707,563

427,761

Corporate Expenditure

131,789

131,326

129,396

134,825

Project Expenditure

196,352

136,428

112,357

33,318

1,224,267

1,010,784

949,316

595,904

629,645

729,240

606,265

488,524

45,043

48,518

59,865

27,168

TOTAL ASSETS

674,688

777,758

666,130

515,692

Current Liabilities

200,638

213,200

166,705

223,349

3,587

7,987

4,707

11,399

TOTAL LIABILITIES

204,225

221,187

171,412

234,748

TOTAL EQUITY

470,463

556,571

494,718

280,944

Other Revenue
TOTAL REVENUE

TOTAL EXPENDITURE
Current Assets
Non-current Assets

Non-current Liabilities

* Note: 2014–15 reporting period was 11 months.
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CASH FLOW
The overall cash surplus of $458,144 for the 2017-18 financial year was a net decrease of $68,630. This
reduction in cash was the result of completing a number of projects that were funded in the previous financial
year and the organisation’s restructure, resulting in two redundancies.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION
The were no significant matters which changed the Gippsland WRRG’s financial position during the reporting period.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES OR FACTORS AFFECTING PERFORMANCE
There were no major changes or factors affecting performance during the reporting period.

CAPITAL PROJECT
The Gippsland WRRG did not undertake any capital projects during the reporting period.

STATEMENT OF SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There have been no events that have occurred after 30 June 2018 which may significantly affect the Gippsland
WRRG’s operations in subsequent reporting periods.

DISCLOSURE OF GRANTS AND TRANSFER PAYMENTS
The Gippsland WRRG has provided sponsorship or transfer of funds to certain companies and organisations to
implement projects and/or initiatives that support delivery of the objectives of the Implementation Plan, or
events and/or professional development for teachers and students taking part in ResourceSmart Schools.
TABLE 9 - Financial Assistance/Transfer of Funds 2017-18
ORGANISATION
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ABN

DESCRIPTION

PAYMENT
$

South Gippsland Shire Council

67 816 770 786

ResourceSmart Schools Facilitator

17,688.20

East Gippsland Shire Council

81 957 967 765

ResourceSmart Schools Facilitator

17,199.42

Metro WRRG

64 480 279 309

Local Buffer Support Program
contribution

23,900.00

Two Teachers

--

Casual Relief Teaching (CRT) through
ResourceSmart Schools

632.40

Meeniyan Community Garden Inc

39 057 310 805

Sponsorship – Reusable Bags

500.00

Gippsland Climate Change Network Inc

45 791 072 676

Sponsorship – RCE Sustainable
Schools Expo

350.00
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Our Organisation

THE RESPONSIBLE MINISTER
The responsible minister is the Hon Lily D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
The structure has been designed to enhance the flow of information to the Board to support the operations and
decision-making of the Board.

Structure as at period ending 30 June 2018
Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change
Hon. Lily D’Ambrosio MP
Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group Board
Chair - Richard Ellis

Executive Officer (1.0 FTE)
Matthew Peake
Senior Administrative Officer
(0.8 FTE)
Finance & Compliance Officer
(0.4 FTE)
Senior Project Officers
(1.2 FTE)

Manager
Governance and Relationships
(1.0 FTE)

Audit and Risk Committee
Chair - Theresa Glab
Gippsland Local Government
Waste Forum
Technical Reference
Group
Engagement and Education
Reference Group

Communications Coordinator
(0.4 FTE)
ResourceSmart Schools Program
Coordinator - 0.7
Facilitator - 0.3
(1.0 FTE)

Annual Report 2017/18

19

Section 2

THE BOARD
The Board is the governing body of the Gippsland WRRG. The Gippsland Local Government Waste Forum
nominates four members to the Minister to be appointed to the Board. A further four skills-based Directors are
appointed to ensure the Board has the skills and experience to deliver its responsibilities.

DIRECTORS - Local Government Waste
Forum Nominees

DIRECTORS - General Members

Richard A. Ellis (Chair)

Theresa Glab

1 August 2014 to 30 April 2021

1 August 2014 to 31 July 2018

Richard Ellis has served as Chair
of the Board since its inception
in August 2014, representing
East Gippsland Shire Council as a
member of the Gippsland Local
Government Waste Forum.

Theresa Glab was appointed to
the board in August 2014 as a
skills-based Director and chairs
the Audit, Risk and Finance
Committee.

Dale Harriman

Duncan Malcolm AM

29 October 2014 to 30 April 2021

1 August 2014 to 31 July 2018

Dale Harriman joined the Board on
29 October 2014 and represents
Latrobe City Council on the
Gippsland Local Government
Waste Forum.

Duncan Malcolm AM was
appointed to the Board in 2014
as a skills-based Director and is
a member of the Audit, Risk and
Finance Committee.

Gayle Maher

Chris Badger

31 October 2017 to 30 April 2021
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1 August 2014 to 31 July 2018

Gayle Maher joined the Board on 30
April 2017 representing Wellington
Shire Council on the Gippsland Local
Government Waste Forum.

Chris Badger was appointed to the
Board on 1 August 2014 as a skillsbased Director and is a member
of the Audit, Risk and Finance
Committee.

Pamela Rothfield

Julie Hocking

31 October 2017 to 31 April 2021

30 June 2015 to 29 June 2019

Pamela Rothfield joined the
Board on 31 October 2018 and
represents Bass Coast Shire
Council on the Gippsland Local
Government Waste Forum.

Julie Hocking was appointed to
the Board in June 2015 as a skillsbased Director and is a member
of the Audit, Risk and Finance
Committee.

Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
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BOARD ATTENDANCE
There were five ordinary board meetings held during 2017-18. Director attendance at these meetings is detailed
below.
TABLE 10 - Board Meeting Attendance
DIRECTOR

POSITION

TYPE

DATE OF
APPOINTMENT

ATTENDANCE

Richard A Ellis

Chair

Forum Nominee

1 August 2014

5 of 5

Chris Badger

Director

General Member

1 August 2014

5 of 5

Theresa Glab

Director

General Member

1 August 2014

5 of 5

Duncan Malcolm

Director

General Member

1 August 2014

5 of 5

Dale Harriman

Director

Forum Nominee

29 October 2014

3 of 5

Julie Hocking

Director

General Member

30 June 2015

5 of 5

Gayle Maher

Director

Forum Nominee

31 October 2017

2 of 3

Pamela Rothfield

Director

Forum Nominee

31 October 2017

2 of 3

AUDIT, RISK AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
The Audit, Risk and Finance Committee’s responsibilities are set out in the Standing Direction 3.2.1.1.
Key responsibilities are to:
•

review and report independently to the Board on the annual report and all other financial information
published by the Gippsland WRRG

•

assist the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the Gippsland WRRG’s internal control environment
covering: effectiveness and efficiency of operations; reliability of financial reporting; and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations

•

determine the scope of the internal audit function and ensure its resources are adequate and used
effectively, including coordination with the external auditors

•

maintain effective communication with external auditors, consider recommendations made by internal and
external auditors and review the implementation of actions to resolve issues raised

•

oversee the effective operation of the risk management framework.

In 2017-18 the committee sought an exemption from Standing Direction 3.2.2 – Internal Audit Function due to
the size and resourcing of the organisation.
Members are appointed by the Board, usually for a three-year term, and are subject to the committee’s
terms of reference. Meetings of the committee are attended by the Chair (as ex-officio) and Executive Officer.
Meetings are held quarterly and at any other time on request of a committee member or external auditor.
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AUDIT, RISK & FINANCE COMMITTEE (cont)
The committee held four meetings during 2017-18.
• 22 September 2017
• 29 November 2017
• 22 March 2018
• 21 June 2018.
TABLE 11 - Committee Members and Record of Attendance
POSITION

TERM

ATTENDED

ELIGIBLE TO
ATTEND

Theresa Glab

General Member

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

4

4

Chris Badger

General Member

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

4

4

Duncan Malcolm

General Member

14 March 2018 to 30 June 2018

2

2

Julie Hocking

General Member

14 March 2018 to 30 June 2018

2

2

Dale Harriman

Forum Nominee

1 July 2017 to 14 December 2017

2

2

Ex-officio

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

4

4

DIRECTOR

Richard Ellis

Left
Lily D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy,
Environment and Climate Change announces
Victorian Government funding for PineGro’s high
tech composting infrastructure in Morwell.
Below left
The GWRRG Board and Sustainability Victoria
representatives visit the Morwell Transfer Station.
Below
The GWRRG hosted by ENGIE at Hazelwood to
discuss potential management of materials generated
by the decommissioning of the Hazelwood power
station and mine.
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Workforce Data
PUBLIC SECTOR VALUES AND EMPLOYMENT PRINCIPLES
The Public Administration Act 2004 and the Code of Conduct for Directors of Victorian Public Entities 2016, both
specify employment and conduct principles that must be observed by public sector organisations and their
employees. A summary of the Code of Conduct is provided below in Table 12.
The Gippsland WRRG is committed to the principles of merit and equity as stated above and has adopted
relevant policies to apply these principles. Employees indicate how they will demonstrate these values and
behaviours in their individual performance plans which are monitored periodically and reviewed annually.
TABLE 12 - Public Sector Values and Gippsland WRRG Principles
PUBLIC SECTOR VALUES
Responsiveness
Integrity
Impartiality
Accountability
Respect
Leadership
Human Rights

EMPLOYEES must:
Display integrity including avoiding real
or apparent conflict of interests
Show accountability by accepting
responsibility for their decisions and
actions
Provide responsive service treatment.

The GWRRG has in place employment processes that ensure:
Decisions are based on merit
Employees are treated fairly and reasonably
Equal employment opportunity is provided
Human rights are upheld
Reasonable avenues of redress.

The BOARD reaffirms its values at each meeting.
The Board will operate by the following values. We will:
Respect our staff, our partners, our stakeholders and each other
Be receptive to ideas and innovations by being open minded
approachable and outward looking
Display integrity through honesty, transparency, good
governance and impartiality
Display leadership that is challenging, proactive, responsive,
collaborative, ambitious and strategic.
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
The Gippsland WRRG is committed to providing and maintaining, so far as is practicable, a working environment
that is safe and without risk for its employees. Gippsland WRRG has an Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)
policy, which includes OH&S procedures appropriate to the Gippsland WRRG’s working environment including
driving a vehicle. Gippsland WRRG also has an appropriate WorkCover insurance policy in place.
The goal of the Gippsland WRRG’s OH&S policy is to ensure all staff remain safe and healthy at work. Gippsland
WRRG actively monitors OH&S and includes a dedicated agenda item at all team meetings. In 2017-18, the
Gippsland WRRG introduced sit-stand desks and provided staff with training and advice on how to effectively
utilise the desks. The Gippsland WRRG also initiated testing and tagging of electrical items in its own office
space and the broader Trafalgar Business Centre.
TABLE 13 - 3-year Performance Indicators
2017-18

2016-17

2015-16

No. of Reported Hazards/Incidents

0

0

0

No. of Lost Time Standard Claims

0

0

0

n/a

n/a

n/a

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Average Cost Per Claim

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
There was zero time lost through industrial incidents and disputes.

INCIDENT MANAGEMENT
There were no workplace injuries or incidents documented for the reporting period. There were no lodged ‘lost
time’ incidents or WorkCover claims made during the reporting period.

COMPARATIVE WORKFORCE DATA
On 30 June 2018, Gippsland WRRG employed nine staff (5.8 full time equivalent), compared to 11 staff (7.2 full
time equivalent) on 30 June 2016. The proportion of women was 67% on 30 June 2018, compared to 64% on 30
June 2016.

WORKFORCE INCLUSION POLICY
Based on the size of the organisation, the Gippsland WRRG does not have a formal Workforce Inclusion Policy.
However, the Gippsland WRRG ensures activities and practices are in-line with contemporary practice in this
regard.
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Employees have been correctly classified in workforce data collections.
TABLE 14 - Breakdown of Gippsland WRRG Workforce
2017-18

2016-17

CLASSIFICATION

Number
(headcount)

FTE

Number
(headcount)

FTE

Executive Officer

1

1

1

1

Team Leader/Manager

1

1

2

1.6

Coordinator

2

1.1

1

0.7

Project Officer

3

1.5

5

2.7

Administration Staff

2

1.2

2

1.2

TOTAL

9

5.8

11

7.2

Female

6

3.6

7

4.7

Male

3

2.2

4

2.5

TOTAL

9

5.8

11

7.2

Notes:
• All figures reflect employment levels during the last full pay period in June of each year.
• Excluded are those on leave without pay or absent on secondment, external contractors/consultants and
temporary staff employed by employment agencies.
• Ongoing employees includes people engaged on an open-ended contract of employment and executives
engaged on a standard executive contract who were active in the last full pay period of June.
• Team Leader/Manager refers to a person who manages or oversees the planning and delivery of programs,
projects and activities.
• Coordinator refers to a person who coordinates projects, programs and activities and who may manage a
project team.
• Project Officer refers to a person specifically employed to deliver projects.
• Administration staff refers to a person who provides administrative support and/or expertise for the operational
function of the organisation.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER DISCLOSURE
The Gippsland WRRG has continued to employ one Executive Officer with a remuneration over $100,000 as
reported in the notes to the financial statement (note 8.4 page 56 - remuneration of responsible persons), for
the current and previous reporting year as detailed in Table 14.
The Gippsland WRRG notified one Executive Officer to the Victorian Public Sector Commission in the latest
Government Sector Executive Remuneration Panel annual survey.
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Disclosures & Compliance
LOCAL JOBS FIRST - Victorian Industry Participation Policy
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 requires Departments and public sector bodies to report
on the implementation of the Local Jobs First – Victorian Industry Participation Policy (Local Jobs First – VIPP).
Departments and public sector bodies are required to apply the Local Jobs First – VIPP in all procurement
activities valued at $3 million or more in metropolitan Melbourne and for state-wide projects, or $1 million or
more for procurement activities in regional Victoria. The Gippsland WRRG did not partake in any Local Jobs First
- VIPP procurement activities.

GOVERNMENT ADVERTISING EXPENDITURE
For the 2017-18 reporting period, the Gippsland WRRG had a total government campaign expenditure of $0.

CONSULTANCY EXPENDITURE
Details of Consultancies (valued under $10,000)
In 2017-18, there were six consultancies engaged during the year where the total fees payable to the individual
consultancies was less than $10,000. The total expenditure incurred during 2017-18 in relation to these
consultancies was $34,274 (excl GST).
TABLE 15 - Consultancies less than $10,000
START DATE

END DATE

TOTAL APPROVED
PROJECT FEE

EXPENDITURE
2017-18

FUTURE
EXPENDITURE

Probity advice to the
Board

14/10/2017

14/12/2017

Agreed hourly rate

$8,914

Nil

GWRRG Land-use
Planning Project

1/11/2017

30/6/2018

$4,200

$4,200

Nil

BLUE
ENVIRONMENT

Final report on WRRG
performance indicators

16/5/2016

31/8/2017

$3,000

$3,000

Nil

JNW STRATEGIC
CONSULTING

Board Charter
Assessment

11/9/2017

14/11/2017

$7,400

$7,400

Nil

SODA CONSULTING Professional services GROUP LTD
organisation restructure

23/1/2018

29/3/2018

$8,960

$8,960

Nil

AERIUM PTY LTD

22/11/2017

21/5/2018

$1,800

$1,800

Nil

CONSULTANT
LANDELL

CENTRUM TOWN
PLANNING
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PURPOSE OF
CONSULTANCY

Facilitation - local
government
procurement workshop

Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group

(excl GST)

(excl GST)

(excl GST)

Details of Consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
In 2017-18 there were two consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or
greater. The total expenditure incurred during 2017-18 in relation to these consultancies is $78,490 (excl GST).
TABLE 16 - Consultancies greater than $10,000
PURPOSE OF
CONSULTANCY

CONSULTANT

START DATE

END DATE

TOTAL APPROVED
PROJECT FEE

EXPENDITURE
2017-18

FUTURE
EXPENDITURE

(excl GST)

(excl GST)

(excl GST)

REINCARNATE
PTY LTD with
RAWTEC PTY LTD

Business case
development for the
collaborative Councils
project

11/12/2017

23/04/2018

$49,210

$49,210

Nil

REINCARNATE
PTY LTD with
RANDELL
ENVIRONMENTAL
PTY LTD

Site assessment of 50
transfer stations and
resource recovery
centres

12/10/2017

3/4/2018

$29,280

$29,280

Nil

INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY EXPENDITURE
For the 2017–18 reporting period, the Gippsland WRRG had a total ICT expenditure of $20,767.01 as broken
down below.
TABLE 17 - ICT expenditure 2017-18
ALL OPERATIONAL ICT
EXPENDITURE

ICT EXPENDITURE RELATING TO PROJECTS TO CREATE OR ENHANCE ICT CAPABILITIES

Business as Usual (BAU)
ICT Expenditure

Non-Business as Usual
(non-BAU) ICT Expenditure

(TOTAL)

(Total = OPEX or CAPEX)

$15,297.02

$5,469.99

Operational Expenditure
(OPEX)

Capital Expenditure
(CAPEX)

$5,469.99

Notes
•
ICT expenditure refers to the Gippsland WRRG’s costs in providing business enabling ICT services within the current reporting
period. It comprises Business as Usual (BAU) ICT expenditure and Non-Business as Usual (Non-BAU) ICT expenditure.
•

Non-BAU ICT expenditure relates to extending or enhancing Gippsland WRRG’s current ICT capabilities.

•

BAU ICT expenditure is all remaining ICT expenditure which primarily relates to ongoing activities to operate and maintain the
current ICT capability.

DISCLOSURE OF MAJOR CONTRACTS
The Gippsland WRRG did not award any major contracts (valued at $10 million or more) during 2017-18.
A ‘major contract’ is a contract entered into during the reporting period valued at $10 million or more.
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The Gippsland WRRG is a State Statutory Agency under the Environment Protection Act 1970 (EP Act), and so
is a ‘Government Agency’ under the terms of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FoI Act). Accordingly, it is
required to comply with the procedures that have been prescribed under which members of the public may
gain access to information held by agencies.
The FoI Act allows the public a right of access to documents held by the Gippsland WRRG. The purpose of the
FoI Act is to extend as far as possible the right of the community to access information held by government
departments, local councils, Ministers and other bodies subject to the FoI Act.
An applicant has a right to apply for access to documents held by an entity. This comprises documents both
created by Gippsland WRRG or supplied to the Gippsland WRRG by an external organisation or individual, and
may also include maps, films, microfiche, photographs, computer printouts, computer discs, tape recordings
and videotapes. The FoI Act allows a Department to refuse access, either fully or partially, to certain documents
or information. Examples of documents that may not be accessed include: cabinet documents; some internal
working documents; law enforcement documents; documents covered by legal professional privilege, such as
legal advice, personal information about other people, and information provided to an entity in-confidence.
From 1 September 2017, the FoI Act has been amended to reduce the FoI processing time for requests received
from 45 to 30 days. In some cases, this time may be extended. If an applicant is not satisfied by a decision made
by the Gippsland WRRG, under section 49A of the FoI Act, they have the right to seek a review by the Office of
the Victorian Information Commissioner (OVIC) within 28 days of receiving a decision letter.

Making A Request
FoI requests can be lodged online at www.foi.vic.gov.au. An application fee of $28.90 applies. Access charges
may also be payable if the document pool is large, and the search for material, time consuming.
Access to documents can also be obtained through a written request to the Gippsland WRRG’s Freedom of
Information Officer as detailed in s17 of the FoI Act. The Gippsland WRRG has determined that the Freedom of
Information Officer is the Executive Officer.
When making an FoI request, applicants should ensure requests are in writing, and clearly identify what types
of material/documents are being sought.
Requests for documents in the possession of the Gippsland WRRG should be addressed to:
Matthew Peake
Executive Officer
Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
PO Box 444
TRAFALGAR VIC 3824
contact@gwrrg.vic.gov.au

FoI Statistics/timeliness
During 2017-18, the Gippsland WRRG received no FoI applications.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE BUILDING ACT 1993
The Gippsland WRRG does not own or control any government buildings and consequently is exempt from
notifying its compliance with the building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

STATEMENT ON COMPETITIVE NEUTRALITY
Competitive neutrality requires government businesses to ensure where services compete, or potentially
compete with the private sector, any advantage arising solely from their government ownership be removed if it
is not in the public interest. Government businesses are required to cost and price these services as if they were
privately owned. Competitive neutrality policy supports fair competition between public and private businesses
and provides government businesses with a tool to enhance decisions on resource allocation. This policy does
not override other policy objectives of government and focuses on efficiency in the provision of service.
The Gippsland WRRG continues to comply with the requirements of the Competitive Neutrality Policy.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROTECTED DISCLOSURES ACT 2012
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (PD Act) enables people in making disclosures of improper conduct by public
officers and public bodies. The PD Act aims to ensure openness and accountability by encouraging people to
make disclosures and protecting them when they do.

What is a ‘protected disclosure’?
A protected disclosure is a complaint of corrupt or improper conduct by a public officer or a public body.
The Gippsland WRRG is a “public body” for the purposes of the Act.

What is ‘improper or corrupt conduct’?
Improper or corrupt conduct involves substantial:
• mismanagement of public resources
• risk to public health or safety or the environment
• corruption.
The conduct must be criminal in nature or a matter for which an officer could be dismissed.

How do I make a ‘protected disclosure’?
You can make a protected disclosure about the Gippsland WRRG or its board members, officers or employees
by contacting the Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC) on the contact details provided
below. Please note that the Gippsland WRRG is not able to receive protected disclosures.
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Contacts
IBAC Victoria
Address: Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne Victoria 3000
Mail: IBAC, GPO Box 24234, Melbourne Victoria 3001
Web: www.ibac.vic.gov.au
Phone: 1300 735 135
Email: see the website above for the secure email disclosure process, which also provides for anonymous
disclosures.
TABLE 18 - Disclosures under the Protected Disclosure Act 2012
The number of disclosures made by an individual to the Gippsland WRRG and notified
to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission
Assessable Disclosures

2017-18

2016-17

0

0

OFFICE-BASED ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS
The Gippsland WRRG employs less than 10 officers that operate from an office in Trafalgar and has made a
commitment to lead by example in promoting and maintaining the principles of sustainability within its office
environment. The Gippsland WRRG is responsible for the delivery of Sustainability Victoria’s ResourceSmart
Schools initiative throughout the Gippsland region with over 70 participating schools.
Other initiatives designed to minimise environmental impacts of our operation include:
•

subscription to Greenfleet to off-set vehicle emissions

•

office paper recycling and purchase of a minimum 70% recycled paper when 100% recycled paper is not
available

•

kitchen scraps composted through the introduction of a Green Cone

•

use of public transport where possible for meetings in Melbourne.

COMPLIANCE WITH DATAVIC ACCESS POLICY
In August 2012, the Victorian Government released the DataVic Access Policy, which enables the sharing of
Government data at no, or minimal, cost to users. Government data from all agencies will be progressively
supplied in an electronic readable format that will minimise access costs and maximise use and reuse.
There were no DataVic Access Policy related activities undertaken by the Gippsland WRRG during the reporting
period.
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COMPLIANCE WITH ESTABLISHING ACT
The Gippsland WRRG is a Statutory Authority established under section 49C of the Environment Protection Act
1970 (EP Act). The EP Act establishes objectives for resource efficiency including sustainable use of resources
and fostering of best practice in waste management.
The responsible Minister during the 2017-18 reporting period was the Hon Lily D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for
Energy Environment and Climate Change.
The Gippsland WRRG received a Statement of Expectations from the Minister in March 2017 which outlines the
governance standards and priorities that the Minister expects the Gippsland WRRG to apply in its performance
and obligations. As per the Statement of Expectations, the Gippsland WRRG has fulfilled its functions in
accordance with the EP Act, the Public Administration Act 2004 and related codes and frameworks issued by the
Victorian Public Sector Commission, the Financial Management Act 1994 and relevant Victorian Government
policies.

Waste and Resource Recovery Infrastructure Planning Framework
The EP Act also sets out under Division 2AB the Victorian Waste and Resource Recovery Infrastructure Planning
Framework which includes the requirement for WRRGs to develop Regional Waste and Resource Recovery
Implementation Plans.
The objectives are to:
1. ensure long-term strategic planning for waste and resource recovery infrastructure at State and regional
levels
2. facilitate the integration of State-wide directions for the management of waste and resource recovery
infrastructure and regional infrastructure needs; and infrastructure planning to be:
i. effectively integrated with land use and development planning and policy
ii. effectively integrated with transport planning and policy
3. ensure Sustainability Victoria and the WRRGs work together to integrate the State-Wide Waste and
Resource Recovery Infrastructure Plan and the Regional Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation
Plans
4. enable waste and resource recovery infrastructure planning decisions to be made at the appropriate level of
the Framework.
The Gippsland Implementation Plan addresses the objectives set out under the EP Act.
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STATEMENT OF AVAILABILITY OF OTHER INFORMATION
Additional information available on request
In compliance with the requirements of the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance, details in respect of
the items listed below which have been retained by the Gippsland WRRG and are available (partially or in full)
on request, subject to the provisions of the FoI Act:
•

publications produced by the Gippsland WRRG about the activities of the organisation

•

a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant officers and
directors

•

details of any other research and development activities undertaken by the Gippsland WRRG

•

details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken by the Gippsland WRRG.

The information is available on request and must be addressed to:
Matthew Peake
Executive Officer
Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
PO Box 444
TRAFALGAR VIC 3824
(03) 5633 2744
contact@gwrrg.vic.gov.au

Additional information included in annual report
Details in respect of the following items have been included in the Gippsland WRRG’s annual report, on the
pages indicated below:
•

assessments and measures undertaken to improve the OH&S of employees (page 24)

•

a statement on industrial relations within the Gippsland WRRG (page 24)

•

a list of the Gippsland WRRG’s major committees, the purposes of each committee, and the extent to which
the purposes have been achieved (pages 21 and 22)

•

a list of all consultancies and contractors including services provided and expenditure committed (pages 26
& 27).

Information that is not applicable to the Gippsland WRRG
The following information is not relevant to the Gippsland WRRG for the reasons set out below:
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•

a declaration of shares held by senior officers - no shares are held by the Executive Officer

•

details of overseas visits undertaken - no Board members or senior executives took overseas work-related trips.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECLARATION IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The attached financial statements for the Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group have been
prepared in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under
the Financial Management Act 1994 , applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting
Standards including interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.
We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement,
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents
fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2018 and financial position of the
Gippsland WRRG at 30 June 2018.
At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars
included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.
We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 728September
August 2018.
2018.

.....................................................
Mr Matthew Peake
Executive Officer
Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
Trafalgar
Trafalgar
7 September
2018
28
August 2018

…….....................................................
Mr Richard Ellis
Chair
Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
Trafalgar
Trafalgar
728September
2018
August 2018

Annual Report 2017/18

33

Section 5

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of the Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
Opinion

I have audited the financial report of the Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
(the group) which comprises the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

balance sheet as at 30 June 2018
comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
cash flow statement for the year then ended
notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
declaration in the financial statements.

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the group as at 30 June 2018 and its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.
Basis for
Opinion

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of my report.
My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are
independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.

Board’s
responsibilities
for the
financial
report

The Board of the group is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.
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Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit
of the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

•

•
•

•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.
conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
group to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.

MELBOURNE
11 September 2018

Paul Martin
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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GIPPSLAND WASTE AND RESOURCE RECOVERY GROUP
-Gippsland
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Waste
and Resource Recovery Group ‐ Financial Statements
How this report is structured
The Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group (Gippsland WRRG) has presented its audited general
purpose financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 in the following structure to
provide users with the information about the Gippsland WRRG's funded resources entrusted to it.
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Statements

Notes to the
Financial
Statements
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
Continuing operations

2018
$

Note

Comprehensive Operating Statement

from
transactions
ForIncome
the Year
Ended
30 June 2018
Landfill levy distribution
Specific
purpose grants
Continuing
operations
Local government revenue
Income Interest
from transactions
on bank deposits
Landfill
distribution
Otherlevy
revenue
Specific purpose grants
Total
income
from transactions
Local
government
revenue
Interest on bank deposits
Expenses
transactions
Other from
revenue
Employee benefits expense
Total income
from
transactions
Specific
purpose
grants expenses
Other operating expenses
Expenses
from transactions
Depreciation
Employee benefits expense
Total
expenses
from grants
transactions
Specific
purpose
expenses
expenses(net operating balance)
NetOther
resultoperating
from transactions
Depreciation
Other
economic
included in net result
Total
expenses
fromflows
transactions
Changes in measurement of long service leave
Net result
transactions
(net operating
Netfrom
(loss)/gain
on disposal
of asset balance)

2.1
Note
2.1
2.1
2.1
2.12.1
2.1
2.1
2.1
2.1
3.2
3.5
3.6
4.1
3.2
3.5
3.6
4.1

2018673,994
$ 401,134
55,000
7,010
673,994
2,901
401,134
1,140,039
55,000
7,010
2,901
(855,286)
1,140,039
(196,352)
(157,442)
(15,187)
(855,286)
(1,224,267)
(196,352)
(157,442)
(84,228)
(15,187)

2017
$
2017661,397
$ 378,100
22,000
8,312
661,397
2,400
378,100
1,072,209
22,000
8,312
2,400
(697,178)
1,072,209
(136,428)
(163,163)
(14,015)
(697,178)
(1,010,784)
(136,428)
(163,163)
61,425
(14,015)

(1,224,267)
(1,010,784)
‐
428
(84,228)
61,425‐
(1,880)

Total other economic flows included in net result
Other economic flows included in net result
Changes
in measurement
of the
longyear
service leave
Total
comprehensive
result for
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of asset

(1,880)

428

‐
(86,108)
(1,880)

428
61,853
‐

Comprehensive
result
Total
other economic
flows included in net result

(86,108)
(1,880)

61,853
428

Total comprehensive result for the year

(86,108)

61,853

Comprehensive result

(86,108)

61,853

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the financial statements
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
Continuing operations

Balance Sheet

Income
As
at 30from
June transactions
2018
Landfill levy distribution
Specific purpose grants
Local
government revenue
Assets
Interest
Current
Assetson bank deposits
Other
revenue
Cash and
cash
equivalents

Trade
and other
receivables
Total income
from
transactions
Total Current Assets
Expenses from transactions
Non‐Current
Assets
Employee
benefits expense
MotorSpecific
vehicles,
plant and
equipment
purpose
grants
expenses
Total Non‐Current
Assets
Other operating
expenses
Depreciation
Total Assets
Total expenses from transactions
Liabilities
Net result from transactions (net operating balance)
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other economic flows included in net result
Employee benefits provision
Changes in measurement of long service leave
Total Current Liabilities
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of asset
Total other economic
Non‐Current
Liabilitiesflows included in net result
Employee
benefits
provision
Total comprehensive
result for the year
Total Non‐Current Liabilities

2018
$

Note

2.1
Note
2.1
2.1
2.1
2.1
6.2

673,994
2018
401,134
$
55,000
7,010
2,901
458,144

2017
$
661,397
2017
378,100
$
22,000
8,312
2,400
526,774

5.1

171,501
1,140,039
629,645

202,466
1,072,209
729,240

3.2
4.1
3.5
3.6
4.1

(855,286)
45,043
(196,352)
45,043
(157,442)
(15,187)
674,688
(1,224,267)

(697,178)
48,518
(136,428)
48,518
(163,163)
(14,015)
777,758
(1,010,784)

5.2
3.3

(84,228)

61,425

86,832
113,806
‐
200,638
(1,880)

78,874
134,326
428
213,200
‐

(1,880)

3.3

428

3,587
(86,108)
3,587

7,987
61,853
7,987

Comprehensive
Total
Liabilities result

(86,108)
204,225

61,853
221,187

Net Assets

470,463

556,571

Equity
Contributed Capital
Asset revaluation surplus
Accumulated surplus
Total Equity

99,573
12,315
358,575
470,463

99,573
12,315
444,683
556,571

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the financial statements
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the financial statements
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Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group

2018
$

Note

Continuing operations

Cash Flow Statement

from
transactions
ForIncome
the Year
Ended
30 June 2018
Landfill levy distribution
Specific purpose grants
Local
revenueACTIVITIES:
CASH FLOWS government
FROM OPERATING
Interest on bank deposits
ReceiptsOther revenue
Receipts from landfill levy distribution and grants
Total income from transactions
Specific purpose grants and other
Interest received
Expenses from transactions
Employee benefits expense
Payments
Specific
purpose
grants
expenses
Payments
to suppliers
and
employees
Other
operating
expenses
Goods and
Services
Tax (paid
to)/refunded from ATO
Net cashDepreciation
(used in)/provided by operating activities
Total expenses from transactions
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Net result
transactions
(net
operating balance)
Purchases
of from
property,
plant and
equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
Other economic flows included in net result
Changes in measurement
of cash
long service
leaveheld
Net (decrease)/increase
in cash and
equivalents
(loss)/gain
on disposal
of asset
Cash andNet
cash
equivalents
at beginning
of financial year
Cash
and
casheconomic
equivalents
at end
of financial
year
Total
other
flows
included
in net result

2017
$

2.1
Note
2.1
2.1
2.1
2.1

673,994
2018
401,134
$
55,000
7,010
2,901
670,845
1,140,039
540,627
7,010

661,397
2017
378,100
$
22,000
8,312
2,400
636,215
1,072,209
408,511
8,313

3.2
3.5
3.6
4.1
6.3

(855,286)
(196,352)
(1,260,144)
(157,442)
(13,013)
(15,187)
(54,675)

(697,178)
(136,428)
(973,918)
(163,163)
(6,522)
(14,015)
72,599

(1,224,267)

(1,010,784)

(84,228)
(13,955)
(13,955)

61,425
(2,668)
(2,668)

‐
(68,630)
(1,880)
526,774
458,144
(1,880)

428
69,931
‐
456,843
526,774
428

Total comprehensive result for the year

(86,108)

61,853

Comprehensive result

(86,108)

61,853

4.1

6.2

Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2018

Balance at 1 July 2017
Other comprehensive income
Balance at 30 June 2018

2017

Balance at 1 July 2016
Other comprehensive income
Balance at 30 June 2017

Asset
Revaluation
Surplus

Contributed
Capital

$
12,315
‐
12,315

$
99,573
‐
99,573

Asset
Revaluation
Surplus
$
12,315
‐
12,315

Accumulated
Surplus
$
444,683
(86,108)
358,575

Contributed
Capital

Accumulated
Surplus

$
99,573
‐
99,573

$
382,830
61,853
444,683

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the financial statements
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the financial statements
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Total
$
556,571
(86,108)
470,463

Total
$
494,718
61,853
556,571
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
1

About this report
The Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group (Gippsland WRRG) is a statutory agency of the State of Victoria, established
on 1 August 2014 by section 49C(1) of the Environment Protection Act 1970 .
Its principal address is:

Gippsland Waste and Resource Recovery Group
Trafalgar Business Centre
107 Princes Highway
Trafalgar, VIC 3824

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities is included in the “Report of operations” which does not
form part of these financial statements.
Basis of preparation
These financial statements are in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless a different measurement basis
is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a different basis. The accrual basis of accounting has been
applied in preparing these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the
reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The significant
judgements made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those
judgements are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. Employee benefits, depreciation, fair value of motor vehicles, plant and equipment, provision for impairment,
receivables and accrued expense are subject to management judgement.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that are
affected by the revision.
These financial statements cover the Gippsland WRRG as an individual reporting entity.
All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest whole dollar unless otherwise stated.
Compliance information
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA) and
applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) which include Interpretations, issued by the Australian Accounting Standards
Board (AASB).
Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to not‐for‐profit entities have been applied.
Accounting policies selected and applied in these financial statements ensure that the resulting financial information satisfies the
concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.
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2

Funding delivery of our services
Gippsland WRRG's purpose is to work with the six councils in Gippsland, the Victorian Government environment portfolio
(Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (hereafter DELWP), Sustainability Victoria and Environment Protection
Agency) and the regional waste and resource recovery groups, industry, business and the community to plan, facilitate and deliver
an integrated and sustainable waste and resource recovery system.
Structure
2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services
2.2 Landfill levy revenue
2.3 Specific purpose grants
2.4 Local government revenue

2.1

Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services
Source
Landfill levy revenue
Specific purpose grants
Local government revenue
Interest on bank deposits
Other Income

Note
2.2
2.3
2.4

2018
$

2017
$

673,994
401,134
55,000
7,010
2,901
1,140,039

661,397
378,100
22,000
8,312
2,400
1,072,209

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to Gippsland WRRG and specific criteria relating to the type of revenue as noted in 2.2 to 2.4 below, has been
satisfied.
Gippsland WRRG's revenue is provided from three different funding streams, predominantly being landfill levy, grants funding
and local council contributions.
2.2

Landfill levy revenue
Landfill levy revenue is received via a Ministerial Determination in accordance with clause 70E of the Environment Protection Act 1970
and distributed by DELWP. The Ministerial Determination provides for a yearly allocation distributed quarterly, that is reflected as
receivables for the final allocation of the financial year by Gippsland WRRG.

2.3

Specific purpose grants
Specific purpose grants from Sustainability Victoria for the ResourceSmart Schools Program and from DELWP for the Waste Resource
and Recovery Implementation Plan are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement when Gippsland WRRG obtains
control of the grants, it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grants will flow to the entity and the amount of the
grants can be measured reliably (and are termed 'non‐reciprocal' transfers). Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may
occur, but only by coincidence.

2.4

Local government revenue
Gippsland WRRG facilitates a local government collaborative procurement initiative in the managing of waste. Local government
revenue is recognised when the relevant local government councils have agreed to support the Collaborative Council ‐ Sustainability
Fund Partnerships program.
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3

Expenses incurred in delivery of services
This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the Gippsland WRRG in delivering services and outputs.
Structure
3.1 Summary of expenses incurred in the delivery of services
3.2 Employee benefits expense in the comprehensive operating statement
3.3 Employee benefits provision in the balance sheet
3.4 Superannuation
3.5 Specific purpose grants expenses
3.6 Other operating expenses

3.1

Summary of expenses incurred in delivery of services
Employee benefits expense
Specific purpose grants expenses
Other operating expenses

3.2

Employee benefits expense in the comprehensive operating statement
Defined contribution superannuation expense
Salaries and wages, annual leave and long service leave
Termination benefits
Fringe benefits tax
Payroll tax
WorkCover
Other
Total

Note
3.2
3.5
3.6

2018
$

2017
$

855,286
196,352
157,442
1,209,080

697,178
136,428
163,163
996,769

2018
$
65,304
697,587
59,827
9,083
8,704
3,553
11,228
855,286

2017
$
56,745
608,743
‐
7,816
11,452
3,580
8,842
697,178

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements,
termination payments and WorkCover premiums.
The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in relation to superannuation is employer contributions for
members of both defined benefit and defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable during the reporting
period. The Gippsland WRRG does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal or constructive obligation
to pay future benefits relating to its employees.
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts an
offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the Gippsland WRRG
is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
3.3

Employee benefits provision in the balance sheet
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave (LSL) for
services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.

Current provisions:
Annual leave
Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months
Long service leave
Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months
Provisions for on‐costs
Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months
Total current provisions for employee benefits
Non-current provisions:
Long service leave
On‐costs
Total non‐current provisions for employee benefits
Total provisions for employee benefits

2018
$

2017
$

46,696

53,680

11,054
44,214

13,627
54,506

5,790
6,052
113,806

6,567
5,946
134,326

3,022
565
3,587
117,393

6,853
1,134
7,987
142,313
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3

Expenses incurred in delivery of services (continued)

3.3

Employee benefits provision in the balance sheet (continued)
Reconciliation of movement in on‐cost provision
Opening balance
Additional net provision recognised
Reductions arising from payments of future economic benefits
Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate
Closing balance
Current
Non-current

2018
$
13,647
3,373
(4,613)
‐
12,407
11,842
565

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non‐monetary benefits, annual leave and on‐costs) are all recognised as part of the employee
benefits as current provisions, because the Gippsland WRRG does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these
liabilities.
The liability for salaries and wages are recognised in the balance sheet at remuneration rates which are current at the reporting date.
As the Gippsland WRRG expects the liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, they are measured at
undiscounted amounts.
The annual leave liability is classified as a current liability and measured at the undiscounted amount expected to be paid, as the
Gippsland WRRG does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non‐vesting and it is not considered probable that the average sick leave
taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future. As sick leave is non‐vesting, an expense is recognised in the
Comprehensive Operating Statement as it is taken.
Employee benefits consist of annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees. On-costs such as superannuation, payroll tax
and workers’ compensation insurance are not employee benefits and are recognised as a separate provision within employee benefits.
Long service leave
Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability; even where Gippsland WRRG does not expect to settle the liability within 12
months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave
within 12 months.
The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
‐ undiscounted value if Gippsland WRRG expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and
‐ present value if Gippsland WRRG does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non‐current liability. There is a conditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until
the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non‐current LSL liability is measured at present value.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non‐current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the
extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in
the net result.
3.4

Superannuation contributions
Gippsland WRRG makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of most employees to various employees'
'choice' funds as a defined contribution. Refer table below.
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3

Expenses incurred in delivery of services (continued)

3.4

Superannuation contributions (continued)
The amount charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement in respect of superannuation represents contributions made or due
by Gippsland WRRG to the relevant superannuation plans in respect to the services of Gippsland WRRG's staff (both past and
present). Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules of each plan and any relevant
compulsory superannuation requirements that Gippsland WRRG is required to comply with.
Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (9.5% required under Superannuation
Guarantee legislation). No further liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation benefits accruing to the employees are
represented by their share of the net assets of the fund.
For the year ended 30 June 2018, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2016‐17). This rate will increase in line with any
increase to Superannuation Guarantee contribution rate.
Contributions paid by Gippsland WRRG (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the below superannuation plans for the
financial year ended 30 June 2018 are detailed below:
Rate
2018
Scheme
Type of scheme
%
$
9.5
2,016
Australian Ethical Super
Defined contribution
9.5
6,310
Care Super
Defined contribution
Hesta
9.5
5,855
Defined contribution
Host Plus Super
Defined contribution
9.5
12,257
Vic Super
Defined contribution
9.5
11,727
Vision Super
Defined contribution
9.5
17,051
Westpac Life Super
Defined contribution
9.5
4,970
Other Funds
Defined contribution
9.5
5,258
Total
65,444

2017
$
2,125
8,123
5,192
5,349
8,215
16,868
4,789
6,900
57,561

There were no contributions outstanding and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2018.
3.5

Specific purpose grants expenses
Administration expenses
Consultants expenses
Operating expenses
Total

2018
$

112
112,084
84,156
196,352

2017
$
7,158
78,023
51,247
136,428

Specific purpose grants expenses are expenses that are for a specific purpose. Specific purpose grants are recognised in the
reporting period in which they are paid or payable.
3.6

Other operating expenses

Total

Administration
Corporate
Insurances
Motor vehicles
Operating lease rental expenses

2018
$
43,562
73,040
6,993
17,996
15,851
157,442

2017
$
52,503
69,985
6,993
14,120
19,562
163,163

Other operating expenses generally represent the day to day running costs incurred in normal operations. Other operating expenses
are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. Operating lease rental expenses are recognised
on a straight line basis over the lease term.
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4

Key assets available to support output delivery
Gippsland WRRG controls motor vehicles, plant and equipment that is utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting its activities.
They represent the resources that have been entrusted to Gippsland WRRG to be utilised for delivery of those outputs.
Where the assets included in this section are carried at fair value, additional information is disclosed in Note 4.2 in connection with
how those fair values were determined.
Structure
4.1 Total motor vehicles, plant and equipment
4.2 Fair value measurement of assets

4.1

Total motor vehicles, plant and equipment
Motor vehicles
At fair value
Accumulated depreciation
Total motor vehicles

2018
$

2017
$

32,300
(11,628)
20,672

32,300
(6,460)
25,840

Plant and equipment
At fair value
Accumulated depreciation
Total plant and equipment

56,050
(31,679)
24,371

46,515
(23,837)
22,678

Total motor vehicles, plant and equipment

45,043

48,518

Motor vehicles, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and impairment. Fair value is determined with regard to the assets' highest and best use and are summarised above by
asset category. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition.
Depreciation
Plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over the assets' useful life to Gippsland WRRG, commencing when the asset
is ready for use.
Motor vehicles are depreciated using the diminishing value method basis over the assets useful life to Gippsland WRRG, commencing
when the asset is ready for use.
Depreciation Rates
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:
Fixed asset class
Motor Vehicles Owned
Plant and Equipment

Depreciation rate
20%
12.5% to 37.5%

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is reviewed. Any
revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. There is no change in depreciation rates from the 2017 financial
year.
Impairment of non‐financial physical assets
In the event the carrying amount of assets are greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down
immediately to the estimated recoverable either as an other economic flow or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses
relate to a revalued asset, a formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present.
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Gippsland WRRG to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable
amount from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows, which will be received from
the asset's employment and subsequent disposal.
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4

Key assets available to support output delivery (continued)

4.1

Total motor vehicles, plant and equipment (con�nued)
The expected net cash flows have not been discounted to present values in determining recoverable amounts.
Reconciliation of movements in carrying amount of motor vehicles, plant and equipment

Motor
vehicles
$

Year ended 30 June 2018
Balance at the beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense
Balance at the end of the year
Year ended 30 June 2017
Balance at the beginning of year
Additions
Depreciation expense
Balance at the end of the year

Plant and
equipment
$

Total
$

25,840
‐
‐
(5,168)
20,672

22,678
13,955
(2,243)
(10,019)
24,371

48,518
13,955
(2,243)
(15,187)
45,043

32,300
‐
(6,460)
25,840

27,565
2,668
(7,555)
22,678

59,865
2,668
(14,015)
48,518

Note: Fair value assessments have been performed for these assets and the decision was made that movements were not material (less than or equal to 10 per cent) for a full revaluation. The next
scheduled full revaluation for the Gippsland WRRG will be conducted in 2021.

4.2 Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at the balance date

2018
Motor vehicles at fair value
Plant and equipment at fair value

2017
Motor vehicles at fair value
Plant and equipment at fair value

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$

$

$

Carrying
Amount
$

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

20,672
24,371
45,043

20,672
24,371
45,043

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

25,840
22,678
48,518

25,840
22,678
48,518

There have been no transfers between levels during the period due to no changes in the valuation technique from 2017 to 2018.
Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles are held at fair value. Gippsland WRRG acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before the end of their
economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by the Board who set relevant depreciation rates
during use to reflect the utilisation of the vehicles. Fair value is determined using the replacement cost method. Given the
significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, motor vehicles are classified as level 3. There were no changes in valuation techniques
throughout the financial year.
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment are specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as
part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method. Given the significant unobservable
inputs in the valuation, plant and equipment are classified as level 3. There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the
financial year.
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4

Key assets available to support output delivery (continued)

4.2

Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at the balance date (continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

Motor
Vehicles
$

2018
Opening balance
Purchases (disposals)
Depreciation expense
Closing balance
Unrealised gains/(losses) on non-financial assets
2017
Opening balance
Purchases (disposals)
Transfer in (out) of level 3
Depreciation expense
Closing balance
Unrealised gains/(losses) on non-financial assets

Plant and
Equipment
$

Total
$

25,840
‐
(5,168)
20,672
‐

22,678
11,712
(10,019)
24,371
‐

48,518
11,712
(15,187)
45,043
‐

‐
‐
32,300
(6,460)
25,840
‐

27,565
2,668
‐
(7,555)
22,678
‐

27,565
2,668
32,300
(14,015)
48,518
‐

The table below, provides descriptions of significant unobservable inputs, that may impact Level 3 valuations.
Significant
Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in Significant
Unobservable
Unobservable Inputs
Inputs
Cost per unit
A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would result in a
significantly higher or lower fair value
Depreciated replacement cost Useful life
A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful life of
the asset would result in a significantly higher or lower valuation.
Valuation Technique

Motor vehicles

Plant and equipment

Cost per unit
Depreciated replacement cost Useful life
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A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful life of
the asset would result in a significantly higher or lower valuation.
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5

Other Assets and Liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Gippsland WRRG's controlled operations.
Structure
5.1 Trade and other receivables
5.2 Trade and other payables

5.1

Trade and other receivables

2018
$

Note

CURRENT
Contractual
Trade and other receivables

7.1

Statutory
Landfill levy
GST Receivables
Total current trade and other receivables

2017
$

1,996

35,617

168,498
1,007
171,501

165,349
1,500
202,466

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as 'Trade and other receivables'. They are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less allowance for doubtful debts. Trade and other receivables
are due for settlement no more than 14 days from the date of recognition.
Collectability of trade receivables and other is reviewed on an ongoing basis. A provision for doubtful receivables is established
when there is objective evidence that Gippsland WRRG will not be able to collect all amounts due, according to the original terms of
receivables and debts which are �nown to be uncollec�ble are wri�en o�.
The amount of the provision (if established) would be the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
es�mated cash �ows, discounted at the e�ec�ve interest rate. The increase in the provision for the year is recognised in the net
result. Bad debts considered as written off by mutual consent are classified as a transaction expense. Bad debts not written off, but
included in the provision for doubtful debts, are classified as other economic flows in the net result.
Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables, but are not
classified as financial instruments.
Ageing analysis of contractual receivables
The balances of receivables that remain are within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table) and are considered to be of high
credit quality. No debts are passed due date and there are no doubtful debts.

Gross
amount
2018

$

Not past due
and not
impaired
$

Past due but not impaired (days overdue)
< 30

31-60

61-90

> 90

Within initial
trade terms

$

$

$

$

$

Trade Receivables
Total

1,996
1,996

1,996
1,996

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

1,996
1,996

2017
Trade Receivables
Total

35,617
35,617

35,617
35,617

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

35,617
35,617

Gippsland WRRG does not hold any financial assets with terms that have been renegotiated, but which would otherwise be past due
or impaired.
The other classes of receivables do not contain impaired assets.
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5

Other Assets and Liabilities (continued)

5.2

Trade and other payables

2018
$

CURRENT
Contractual
Trade payables
Sundry payables and accrued expenses
Statutory
FBT Payable
PAYG Payable
Other taxes payable
Total

2017
$

44,650
25,468

27,006
25,307

1,816
14,335
563
86,832

‐
26,561
‐
78,874

Payables consist of:
‐ contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and measured at fair value. Trade and other payables represent liabilities
for goods and services provided to Gippsland WRRG prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid; and
‐ statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial
instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at fair value, because they do not arise from contracts.
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Gippsland WRRG prior to the end of the financial year, which
are unpaid at financial year end. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
Maturity analysis of contractual payables
Less than 1 month
2018
2017
$
$
Trade
70,118
52,313
payables
Total
70,118
52,313

1 ‐ 3 months
2018
2017
$
$
‐
‐

‐
‐

3 months ‐ 1 year
2018
2017
$
$
‐
‐

‐

Total
2018
$
70,118

‐

70,118

Note: Amounts disclosed in this table exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
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6

How we financed our operations
This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by the organisation during its operations and other information
related to financing the activities of the Gippsland WRRG.
This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash balances). Notes 7.1 and 7.3
provide additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.
Structure
6.1 Leasing commitments
6.2 Cash and cash equivalents
6.3 Cash flow information
This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as cash balances). Note 7.1 provides additional,
specific financial instrument disclosures.

6.1

Leasing Commitments
Leasing commitments are not reported on the balance sheet and are related to contractually committed expenditure.
Operating Leases

2018
$

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases:
- not later than one year
- between one year and five years

2017
$

13,982
28,289
42,271

13,564
41,928
55,492

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses
on a straight line basis over the life of the lease term. Operating lease commitments relate to office space and photocopier with lease
terms between two and three years. These contracts do not allow the Gippsland WRRG to purchase the facilities or equipment after the
lease ends, but the Gippsland WRRG can renew the lease for a further five years.

6.2

2018
$

Cash and cash equivalents
Bendigo Cash Management Fund
Bendigo Business Accounts
Balance as per cash flow statement

2017
$

388,755
69,389
458,144

446,770
80,004
526,774

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and short‐term investments which are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
The Gippsland WRRG as a public sector agency is required to undertake all investments and financial arrangements over $2 million
with Treasury Corporation of Victoria ('TCV') and Victorian Funds Management Corporation ('VFMC') in accordance with the
Centralised Treasury and Investment Policy. The Gippsland WRRG has not held $2 Million in investments.
6.3

Cash flow information
Reconciliation of net result from transactions for the year to net cash flows from operating activities
Net result from transactions for the year
Non-cash flows in net result:
‐ loss in disposal of assets
‐ depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
- decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables
- increase in trade and other payables
- (decrease)/increase in employee benefits provision
Net cash flows from operating activities

2018
$
(86,108)

2017
$
61,853

1,880
15,187

‐
14,015

31,328
7,958
(24,920)
(54,675)

(53,044)
38,964
10,811
72,599
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7

Risks, contingencies and valuation judgements
The Gippsland WRRG is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make judgements and
estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial instrument
specific judgement to be applied, which for the organisation related mainly to fair value determination.
7.1 Financial instruments specific disclosures
7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
7.3 Net fair values

7.1

Financial instruments specific disclosures
Gippsland WRRG is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its use of financial instruments. Gippsland WRRG does not speculate
in financial assets.
The most significant financial risks to which Gippsland WRRG is exposed are described below:
∙
∙
∙

Credit risk;
Liquidity risk; and
Market and interest rate risk

Financial instruments used
Cash and trade receivables and payables are financial instruments with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an
active market. These assets and liabilities are recognised and measured at fair value.
Gippsland WRRG recognises the following assets and liabilities in this category:
∙
∙
∙

Cash and short term deposits at bank;
Trade and other receivables; and
Trade and other payables

Categories of financial instruments

2018
Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables
Trade and other receivables
Total contractual financial assets
Contractual financial liabilities
Payables
Trade and other payables
Total contractual financial liabilities

Contractual
financial assets –
loans and
receivables and
cash

Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables
Trade and other receivables
Total contractual financial assets
Contractual financial liabilities
Payables
Trade and other payables
Total contractual financial liabilities

‐

458,144

1,996
460,140

‐
‐

1,996
460,140

70,118
70,118

70,118
70,118

Contractual
financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

‐
‐

526,774

‐

526,774

35,617
562,391

‐
‐

35,617
562,391

52,313
52,313

52,313
52,313

‐
‐

The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian government and GST input tax
credit recoverable and taxes payable).
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Total

458,144

Contractual
financial assets –
loans and
receivables and
cash

2017

Contractual
financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
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7

Risks, contingencies and valuation judgements (continued)

7.1

Financial instruments specific disclosures (continued)
Specific information regarding the mitigation of each financial risk to which Gippsland WRRG is exposed is provided below.
Financial instruments: Credit Risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to Gippsland
WRRG. Gippsland WRRG has exposure to credit risk on all financial assets included in the balance sheet. To help manage this risk,
Gippsland WRRG only invests surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in Gippsland
WRRG's investment policy.
Trade and other receivables are spread across the business and government sectors. Credit risk associated with Gippsland WRRG’s
financial assets is minimal. Apart from Victorian Government (AAA credit rating), the Gippsland WRRG does not have any significant
credit risk exposure to a single customer or groups of customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition
of Gippsland WRRG's customers and where appropriate, an allowance for doubtful debts is raised.
Financial instruments: Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of Gippsland WRRG's operational liquidity requirements:
‐ Gippsland WRRG will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date;
‐ Gippsland WRRG will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth, or
‐ Gippsland WRRG may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all.
To help reduce these risks, Gippsland WRRG:
‐ has a cash management policy advising that a level of cash or equivalents must be maintained to cover transactions;
‐ has a portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested at call, until minimum is covered, then to terms as required; and
‐ monitors cash flow performance on a regular basis, based on historical high and low flow periods.
Gippsland WRRG's exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.
Financial instruments: Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of Gippsland WRRG's financial instruments will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices.
Gippsland WRRG's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to other price
risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. Components of market risk to which Gippsland WRRG is exposed are discussed below.
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument, or cash flows associated with the instrument, will fluctuate
due to changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets and liabilities that Gippsland
WRRG uses.
Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions. Gippsland WRRG manages interest rate risk by following an
investment policy that ensures:
‐
‐
‐
‐

conformity with state regulations and standards;
adequate safety;
appropriate liquidity; and
monitoring of return on investment

Maturity will be staggered to provide for interest rate variations and to minimise interest rate risk.
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7

Risks, contingencies and valuation judgements (continued)

7.1

Financial instruments specific disclosures (continued)
Interest rate exposure of financial instruments

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Financial Assets

Weighted Average Effective
Interest Rate
2018
2017
%
%
1.53

1.58

Floating Interest Rate
2018
$

2017
$

458,144
458,144

526,774
526,774

Interest rate risk sensitivity
The sensitivity analysis has been based on the exposure to interest rates as at the reporting date and that the change would take place
from the beginning of the year and be held constant throughout the reporting period.
At reporting date, if interest rates had been 100 basis points (2017: 100 basis points) higher, the reported net result would have been
$4,581 (2017: $5,268) higher. If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2017: 100 basis points) lower, the reported net result would
have been $4,581 (2017: $5,268) lower.
Gippsland WRRG's sensitivity to interest rates has decreased during the period due to lower cash at the bank. Gippsland WRRG has no
borrowings at balance date.
Gippsland WRRG does not face any other significant risks and has, therefore, not disclosed any other market sensitivity analyses.
Financial instrument composition
Gippsland WRRG's exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument's value will fluctuate as a
result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rates on classes of financial assets
and financial liabilities, is as follows:
Total
Non-interest Bearing
2018
2017
2018
$
$
$
Financial Assets:
Trade and other receivables
1,996
35,617
1,996
Total Financial Assets
1,996
35,617
1,996
Financial Liabilities:
Trade and other payables
70,118
52,313
70,118
Total Financial Liabilities
70,118
52,313
70,118
Note ‐ Trade and other receivables and Trade and other payables amounts disclosed in this table exclude statutory amounts
(e.g. GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
7.2

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
To the best of Gippsland WRRG's knowledge, Gippsland WRRG did not have any other contingent assets or liabilities at 30
June 2018.

7.3

Net fair values
Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values have not been written down as Gippsland WRRG intends to
hold these assets to maturity.
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$
35,617
35,617
52,313
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7

Risks, contingencies and valuation judgements (continued)

7.3

Net fair values (continued)
The following table shows that the fair values of the contractual financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised
cost.
Fair Value
Carrying
Carrying
2018
2018
2017
$
$
$
Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits
458,144
458,144
526,774
Trade and other receivables
1,996
1,996
35,617
Total contractual financial assets
460,140
460,140
562,391
Contractual financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
70,118
70,118
52,313
Total contractual financial liabilities
70,118
70,118
52,313

Fair Value
2017
$
526,774
35,617
562,391
52,313
52,313

Note: The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GST input tax credit recoverable and tax
payables).
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8

Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the understanding of this
financial report.
Structure
8.1 Remuneration of auditors
8.2 Ex-gratia payments
8.3 Responsible persons disclosure
8.4 Remuneration of responsible persons
8.5 Related parties
8.6 Events occurring after the reporting date
8.7 Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective

8.1

2018
$

Remuneration of auditors
Auditor-General for audit of financial statements

8.2

2017
$
5,900

5,800

Ex-gratia payments
There were no ex‐gratia payments paid by Gippsland WRRG (2017: nil).

8.3

Responsible persons disclosure
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities
of the Gippsland WRRG. This comprises persons who were responsible persons at any time during the reporting period.
Responsible minister
The responsible minister for the full year was the Hon. Lily D'Ambrosio, Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change.
Board members
Name
Current:
Mr Richard Ellis (Chair)
Mr Chris Badger
Ms Theresa Glab
Mr Dale Harriman
Ms Julie Hocking
Mr Duncan Malcolm
New:
Ms Gayle Maher
Ms Pamela Rothfield

Tenure
01/07/2017 to 30/06/2018
01/07/2017 to 30/06/2018
01/07/2017 to 30/06/2018
01/07/2017 to 30/06/2018
01/07/2017 to 30/06/2018
01/07/2017 to 30/06/2018
31/10/2017 to 30/06/2018
31/10/2017 to 30/06/2018

Accountable officer
Mr Matthew Peake EO (1/07/2017 to 30/06/2018).
8.4

Remuneration of responsible persons
The number of responsible persons whose remuneration from the Gippsland WRRG was within the specified bands as follows:
Total
remuneration
Income band-$
0 - 9,999
10,000-20,999
130,000‐139,999
140,000‐149,999
150,000‐159,999
Total number
Total amount

Total
remuneration

2018
7
1
‐
‐
1
9
$182,706

The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the entity
under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also reported within the related parties note disclosure (Note 8.3).
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7
1
‐
1
‐
9
$198,708
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8

Other disclosures (continued)

8.4

Remuneration of responsible persons (continued)
Remuneration of executive officers
The Executive Officer is the Accountable Officer and is included in the remuneration of responsible persons.

8.5

Related parties
Gippsland WRRG is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of Gippsland WRRG include:
 all key management personnel and their close family members;
 all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and
 all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated financial
statements.
All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.
Key management personnel of the Gippsland WRRG include the Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change, the Gippsland
WRRG Board Members and Executive Officer. The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio
Minister receives. The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and
is reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.
Compensation
Short term employee benefits
Post‐employment benefits
Other long‐term benefits
Total

2018
$
168,980
13,726
‐
182,706

2017
$
170,684
14,719
13,305
198,708

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a manner
consistent with other members of the public, e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further employment of
processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 and
Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission.
Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board requirements.
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Gippsland WRRG, there were no related party transactions that involved key
management personnel and their close family members. No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment
of receivables from related parties.
Significant transactions with government‐related entities
Gippsland WRRG received funding from DELWP and Sustainability Victoria to fund its operating activities and projects.
During the year, the Gippsland WRRG had the following government‐related entity transactions:
‐ Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) of $225,000 (2017: $225,000) for the Waste Resource and Recovery
Implementation Plan and $673,994 (2017: $661,396) from the Municipal and Industrial Landfill Levy to fund operations.
‐ Sustainability Victoria for the program funding for ResourceSmart Schools of $176,134 (2017: $153,100)
8.6

Events occurring after the reporting date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operations of the Gippsland WRRG, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Gippsland
WRRG in future financial years.

8.7

Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective
Certain new Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) have been published which are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018
reporting period. Gippsland WRRG assesses the impact of all these new standards and advises the Department of their
applicability and early adoption where applicable. Please refer to Appendix 1 for the detailed list of the AAS issued but
are not yet effective for the 2017‐18 reporting period.
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Issued but not yet effective Australian accounting and reporting pronouncements

Standard/Interpretation

1

Summary

Applicable for annual
reporting periods
beginning on

Impact on public sector entity financial
statements

1‐Jan‐18

The assessment has identified that the amendments
are likely to result in earlier recognition of
impairment losses and at more regular intervals.
The initial application of AASB 9 is not expected to
significantly impact the financial position however
there will be a change to the way financial
instruments are classified and new disclosure
requirements.

1‐Jan‐18

This amending standard will defer the application
period of AASB 9 to the 2018‐19 reporting period in
accordance with the transition requirements.

1‐Jan‐19

The changes in revenue recognition
requirements in AASB 15 may result in
changes to the timing and amount of revenue
recorded in the financial statements. The
Standard will also require additional
disclosures on service revenue and contract
modifications. The likely impact on GWRRG
will be a decrease in revenue. The impact of
$8,807 from the Resource Smart Schools
Contract which would be recognised in the
following year.

AASB 2015‐8 Amendments to
Australian Accounting
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date
Standards – Effective Date of of AASB 15 from 1 January 2017 to 1 January 2018.
AASB 15

1‐Jan‐19

This amending standard will defer the application
period of AASB 15 for for‐profit entities to the 2018‐
19 reporting period in accordance with the transition
requirements.

AASB 2016‐7 Amendments to
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date
Australian Accounting
of AASB 15 for not‐for‐profit entities from 1 January
Standards – Deferral of AASB
2018 to 1 January 2019.
15 for Not‐for‐Profit Entities

1‐Jan‐19

This amending standard will defer the application
period of AASB 15 for not‐for‐profit entities to the
2019‐20 reporting period.

1‐Jan‐19

This standard clarifies the application of AASB 15 and
AASB 9 in a not‐for‐profit context. The areas within
these standards that are amended for not‐for‐profit
application include:
AASB 9
∙
Statutory receivables are recognised and
measured similarly to financial assets
AASB 15
∙
The “customer” does not need to be the
recipient of goods and/or services;
∙
The “contract” could include an arrangement
entered into under the direction of another party;
∙
Contracts are enforceable if they are
enforceable by legal or “equivalent means”;
∙
Contracts do not have to have commercial
substance, only economic substance; and
∙
Performance obligations need to be
“sufficiently specific” to be able to apply AASB 15 to
these transactions.

The key changes include the simplified
requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, a new hedge
AASB 9 Financial Instruments accounting model and a revised impairment loss
model to recognise expected impairment losses
earlier, as opposed to the current approach that
recognises impairment only when incurred.

AASB 2014‐1 Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards [Part E Financial
Instruments]

AASB 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

AASB 2016‐8 Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards – Australian
Implementation Guidance for
Not‐for‐Profit Entities

58

Amends various AASs to reflect the AASB’s decision
to defer the mandatory application date of AASB 9
to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018, and to amend reduced disclosure
requirements.

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an entity to
recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service to a customer. Note that amending
standard AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15
has deferred the effective date of AASB 15 to
annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018, instead of 1 January 2017.

AASB 2016‐8 inserts Australian requirements and
authoritative implementation guidance for not‐for‐
profit‐entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15.
This Standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 15 to
include requirements to assist not‐for‐profit
entities in applying the respective standards to
particular transactions and events.
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Appendix 1

Issued but not yet effective Australian accounting and reporting pronouncements

Standard/Interpretation

AASB 16 Leases

1

Summary

The key changes introduced by AASB 16 include the
recognition of operating leases (which are currently
not recognised) on balance sheet.

AASB 1058 standard will replace the majority of
income recognition in relation to government
grants and other types of contributions
requirements relating to public sector not‐for‐profit
entities, previously in AASB 1004 Contributions.
The restructure of administrative arrangement will
AASB 1058 Income of Not‐for‐
remain under AASB 1004 and will be restricted to
Profit Entities
government entities and contributions by owners in
a public sector context,
AASB 1058 establishes principles for transactions
that are not within the scope of AASB 15, where
the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly
less than fair value to enable not‐for‐profit entities
to further their objective.

Applicable for annual
reporting periods
beginning on

1‐Jan‐19

Impact on public sector entity financial
statements
The assessment has indicated that most operating
leases, with the exception of short term and low
value leases will come on to the balance sheet and
will be recognised as right of use assets with a
corresponding lease liability.
In the operating statement, the operating lease
expense will be replaced by depreciation expense of
the asset and an interest charge.

The current revenue recognition for grants is to
recognise revenue up front upon receipt of the funds.

1‐Jan‐19

The revenue recognition for operating grants will
need to be analysed to establish whether the
requirements under other applicable standards need
to be considered for recognition of liabilities (which
will have the effect of deferring the income
associated with these grants). Only after that analysis
would it be possible to conclude whether there are
any changes to operating grants.
The impact on current revenue recognition of the
changes is the phasing and timing of revenue
recorded in the profit and loss statement.

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards that are not effective for the
2017‐18 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards include editorial and references changes that are expected to
have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting.
∙

AASB 2016‐6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Applying AASB 9 Financial Instruments with AASB 4 Insurance Contracts

∙

AASB 2017‐3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 4

∙ AASB 2017‐5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 and AASB 128 and Editorial
Corrections
∙

AASB 2017‐6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

∙

AASB 2018‐1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle
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Disclosure Index
LEGISLATION

REQUIREMENT

PAGE

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIONS & FINANCIAL REPORTING DIRECTIONS (FRDs)
REPORT OF OPERATIONS

CHARTER & PURPOSE
FRD 22H
Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers				
FRD 22H
Purpose, functions, powers and duties 						
FRD 22H
Key initiatives and projects							
FRD 22H
Nature and range of services provided						
MANAGEMENT & STRUCTURE
FRD 22H
Organisational structure (including Board and Committees)		

7
7
5
9

19-22

FINANCIAL & OTHER INFORMATION
FRD 8D		
Performance against output performance measures 			
10-16
FRD 8D 		
Budget portfolio outcomes
					
16-17
FRD 10A
Disclosure index								
60
FRD 12B
Disclosure of major contracts							
27
FRD 15E
Executive Officer disclosures							
25
FRD 22H
Employment and conduct principles						
23
FRD 22H
Occupational health and safety policy						
24
FRD 22H
Summary of the financial results for the year 				
16-17
FRD 22H
Significant changes in financial position during the year 				
18
FRD 22H
Major changes or factors affecting performance 					
18
FRD 22H
Subsequent events								
18
FRD 22H
Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 			28
FRD 22H
Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993
29
FRD 22H
Statement on Competitive Neutrality Policy 					
29
FRD 22H
Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012			29
FRD 22H
Details of consultancies under $10,000 						
26
FRD 22H
Details of consultancies over $10,000 						
27
FRD 22H
Disclosure of government advertising expenditure				
26
FRD 22H
Disclosure of ICT expenditure							
27
FRD 22H
Statement of availability of other information 					
32
FRD 24D
Reporting of office based environmental impacts				
30
FRD 25C
Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures				
26
FRD 29C
Workforce data disclosures						
23-25
MRD		Compliance with DataVic Access Policy						30
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS (cont)

COMPLIANCE ATTESTATION & DECLARATION
SD 5.1.4
Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction			
SD 5.2.3
Declaration in report of operations						

33
5

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECLARATION
SD 5.2.2
Declaration in financial statements						

33

OTHER REQUIREMENTS UNDER STANDING DIRECTIONS 5.2
SD 5.2.1(a)
Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative
		pronouncements								41
SD 5.2.1(a)
Compliance with Ministerial Directions						
33
SD 5.2.1(b)
Compliance with Model Financial Report					
33
OTHER DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY FRDs IN NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FRD 11A
Disclosure of Ex gratia Expenses 						56
FRD 21C
Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel
		
(Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities) in the Financial Report 56
FRD 103G
Non Financial Physical Assets 							
46
FRD 110A
Cash Flow Statements								
40
FRD 112D
Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations				
44-45
Note:
(a) References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs do not contain requirements that are of the
nature of disclosure.

LEGISLATION

Environmental Protection Act 1970								7
Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004							
24
Public Administration Act 2004									
25
Freedom of Information Act 1982								28
Building Act 1993										29
Protected Disclosure Act 2012									29
Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003							26
Financial Management Act 1994
							33
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Appendix B

ResourceSmart Schools

List of Gippsland schools that participated in ResourceSmart Schools during 2017-18.
Airly Primary School					
Araluen Primary School					
Bairnsdale Primary School				
Bass Coast Specialist School				
Bass Valley Primary School				
Bona Vista Primary School				
Bundalaguah Primary School				
Churchill North Primary School 				
Clifton Creek Primary School				
Community College Gippsland - Leongatha		
Community College Gippsland - Pakenham		
Community College Gippsland - Warragul			
Drouin Secondary College				
Drouin West Primary School				
East Gippsland Specialist School				
Fish Creek Primay School					
Foster Primary School					
Gippsland Grammar Junior School (St Anne’s Campus)
Gippsland Grammar School - Wy Yung			
Gippsland Tech School					
Glengarry Primary School				
Gormandale & District Primary School			
Grey Street Primary School				
Inverloch Primary School					
Kongwak Primary School					
Koonwarra Village School					
Korumburra Secondary College				
Korumburra Primary School				
Kurnai College - Morwell					
Loch Primary School					
Lowanna Secondary College				
Maffra Secondary College				
Marist-Sion College Warragul				
Moe Albert St						
Moe Primary School (South Street)			
Morwell Central Primary School				
Nagle College
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Nambrok Dennison Primary School
Narracan Primary School
Newborough Primary School
Newhaven College
Nilma Primary School
Nungurner Primary School
Nyora Primary School
Omeo Primary School
Phillip Island Village School
Poowong Consolidated School
Rawson Primary School
Ripplebrook Primary School
Rubicon Outdoor Centre
Sale Primary School
South Gippsland Specialist School
St Brendan’s Catholic Primary School
St Joseph’s Wonthaggi
St Michaels Primary School
St Paul’s Traralgon Campus
St Paul’s Anglican Grammar School - Warragul Campus
St Paul’s Anglican Grammar School - Year 9
St Thomas’ Primary School
St Vincent de Paul Primary School
Stratford Primary School
Tarwin Lower Primary School
Toongabbie Primary School
Traralgon College
Warragul North Primary School
Warragul Regional College
Wild Cherry Steiner School
Wonthaggi North Primary School
Wonthaggi Primary School
Woorabinda Somers Camp
Yarram Secondary College
Yinnar Primary School
Yinnar South Primary School

107 Princes Highway
Trafalgar Vic 3824
03 5633 2744
www.gwrrg.vic.gov.au

